The evolving beta cell phenotype

Doctoral dissertation

# **Ágnes Jermendy MD**

Semmelweis University Doctoral School of Clinical Medicine





Supervisor:

László Madácsy M.D., Ph.D., D.Sc.

Head of the Comprehensive Exam Committee: András Szabó M.D., Ph.D., D.Sc.

Members of the Comprehensive Exam committee:

László Gerő M.D., Ph.D., D.Sc. Tamás Halmos M.D., Ph.D., D.Sc. Beáta Dérfalvi M.D., Ph.D.

Budapest 2014

# **Table of contents**

Abbreviations					
1	Introduction				
	1.1	Beta cell generation	10		
		1.1.1 Pdx1	13		
		1.1.2 Ngn3, Notch signaling, and Hes	13		
		1.1.3 NeuroD1/Beta2	14		
		1.1.4 Pax4 and Pax6	15		
		1.1.5 Nkx2.2 and Nkx6.1	15		
		1.1.6 MafA and MafB	16		
	1.2	Regulation of insulin gene expression	17		
	1.3	Glucose-stimulated insulin secretion	18		
	1.4	Immature glucose-stimulated insulin secretion	19		
	1.5	Role of transcription factors in the maturation of beta cells	21		
	1.6 Role of MafA in mature beta cell function				
2	Aims (	(1-4)	23		
3	Metho	ds	25		
	3.1	Animals	25		
	3.2	Laser-capture microdissection	25		
	3.3	Microarray hybridization	26		
	3.4	Adenovirus infection	27		
	3.5	RNA extraction	28		
	3.6	Quantitative real-time PCR	28		
	3.7	Insulin secretion in vitro	29		
	3.8	Insulin secretion in vivo	29		
	3.9	Western blot analysis	30		
	3.10	Immunostaining	30		
	3.11	Data analysis	31		
4	Result	S	32		
5	Discus	ssion	62		
6	Conclusions				

7	Summ	nary	72	
8	Össze	foglalás	74	
9	Refere	ences	76	
10	Bibliography of the candidate's publications			
	10.1	Publications related to the thesis	90	
	10.2	Publications not related to the present thesis	90	
11	Ackno	owledgements	93	

# Abbreviations

- AdDN-MafA: adenovirus dominant-negative MafA
- AdGFP: adenovirus GFP
- AdNeuroD1: adenovirus NeuroD1
- AdPdx1: adenovirus Pdx1
- ANOVA: analysis of variance
- Arg: arginine
- Arx: aristaless related homeobox
- ATP: adenosine triphosphate
- bHLH: basic helix-loop-helix
- Cav1.2, Cav1.3: voltage-gated calcium channel alpha 1C, 1D subunit
- cDNA: complimentary DNA
- CDS: coding sequence
- CMV: cytomegalovirus
- Cox: cytochrome c oxidase
- Cpt: carnitine-palmitoyl transferase
- DAPI: 4'-6-Diamidino-2-phenylindole
- DAVID: Database for Annotation, Visualization and Integrated Discovery
- dChip: DNA-Chip analyser
- dNTP: deoxyribonucleotide triphosphate
- E47: E protein 47
- EST: expressed sequence tag
- FBS: fetal bovine serum
- FC: fold change
- Foxa2: forkhead box A2
- GFP: green fluorescent protein
- GK: Goto-Kakizaki rat
- Gln: glutamine
- Glp1r: glucagon-like peptide 1 receptor
- Glut2: glucose transporter 2
- Got: glutamine-oxalacetate transferase

Gpd: glycerol-3-phosphate dehydrogenase GSIS: glucose-stimulated insulin secretion Hes: hairy and enhancer of split HSV: herpes simplex virus INS-1: insulinoma 1 IPGTT: intraperitoneal glucose tolerance test Isl1: islet 1 KCl: potassium chloride Kir6.2: potassium inwardly-rectifying channel KRBH: Krebs-Ringer bicarbonate buffer LCB: lower confidence boundary LCM: laser capture microdissection Leu: leucine LSM: laser scanning microscope MafA: musculoaponeurotic fibrosarcoma oncogene homolog A MafB: musculoaponeurotic fibrosarcoma oncogene homolog B Mdh: malate dehydrogenase Me: malic enzyme MODY: mature onset diabetes in young mRNA: messenger RNA NADH: nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide NADPH: nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate Nd: NADH dehydrogenase NeuroD1: neurogenic differentiation 1 Ngn3: neurogenin 3 Nkx2.2, Nkx6.1: NK2 homeobox 2, NK6 homeobox 1 P: postnatal day Pax4, Pax6: paired box 4, 6 PBS: phosphate buffered saline Pc: pyruvate carboxylase Pcsk1: proprotein convertase subtilisin/kexin type 1 Pdx1: pancreatic and duodenal homeobox 1

PK, PKM, PKLR: pyruvate kinase, muscle, liver and red blood cell isoform

PP: pancreatic polypeptide

Ptf1a: pancreas specific transcription factor 1a

PVDF: polyvinylidene fluoride

qPCR: quantitative real-time polymerase chain reaction

RBC: red blood cell

RPMI: Roswell Park Memorial Institute medium

RT-PCR: reverse transcription polymerase chain reaction

SDS-PAGE: sodium dodecyl sulfate polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis

SEM: standard error of mean

Slc: solute carrier

Snap: synaptosomal-associated protein

SNARE: soluble N-ethylmaleimide-sensitive factor activating protein receptor

Sox9: sex determining region Y box 9

Stx1a: syntaxin 1A

Stxbp: syntaxin binding protein

Suclg: succinate-CoA ligase

Sur1: sulfonylurea receptor 1

TBST: Tris buffered saline with Tween 20

UTR: untranslated region

Vamp: vesicle-associated membrane protein

WKY: Wistar-Kyoto rat

# **1. Introduction**

The very essence of diabetes is the failure of the insulin-producing pancreatic beta cells, either due to autoimmune destruction in type 1 diabetes or as a consequence of permanent glucotoxicity combined with peripheral insulin resistance in type 2 diabetes. Diabetes mellitus in all its forms is a serious and costly disease and it has become a major health problem worldwide during the past few decades. People in many countries are becoming heavier, more sedentary and older [1, 2]; which increases the prevalence of type 2 diabetes [3] and could potentially result in a decline in life expectancy [4]. In addition, both type 1 and type 2 diabetes is complicated by severe end-organ damage in vital organs of the body including the retina, the kidney glomerulus and peripheral nerves, because of the long-term effects of chronic hyperglycaemia on the microvasculature [5]. People with diabetes are also at greater risk for developing artherosclerosis, affecting coronary, cerebrovascular and peripheral arterial circulation. The exact relationship between chronic hyperglycaemia and macrovascular complications has not been clearly established, however the evidence is accumulating, as early strict glycemic control seems to generate a positive legacy in terms of cardiovascular outcomes [6-8]. Taken together, data strongly imply that normalization of blood glucose levels is essential early in the timecourse of diabetes in order to prevent or delay micro- and macrovascular complications. There has been an impressive improvement in the treatment of diabetes with higher standards of care, advances in insulin therapy and new medications; however, patients still need to receive a life-long therapy and too many patients develop complications, and face reduced life quality and expectancy. Therefore, the quest for cure still remains.

Much effort has been made to provide a curative therapy for both type 1 and type 2 diabetes by reconstituting endogenous insulin production with the replenishment of the insulin-producing pancreatic beta cells. Currently, the only forms of clinically available beta cell replacement are whole-organ pancreas transplantation and pancreatic islet transplantation. Whole-organ pancreas transplantation has three specific categories: the most commonly performed simultaneous pancreas-kidney transplantation (SPK), pancreas after kidney transplantation (PAK), and pancreas transplant alone (PTA). The

progress in the past years has been steady and the outcomes with pancreas transplantation are excellent [9] with satisfying results in terms of glycemic control. Still, the procedure has many drawbacks. The surgery has about 4-5% mortality and patients have to receive a life-long immunosuppressive therapy [9]. In certain cases, however, whole pancreas transplantation could be a reasonable choice of treatment, for instance in patients with end-stage renal disease, or in patients with extreme lability of diabetes [10, 11].

Islet transplantation has been in the focus of attention since the late 1970's. It is a minimally invasive procedure, complications are rare, and in recent years rapid advances have been made in transplant technology. The goal of the transplantation is to infuse enough beta cells in form of islets to control blood glucose levels without insulin injections. The islets are isolated from cadaver pancreases by enzymatic digestion and mechanical stimuli. Isolated islets are then injected into the portal vein system to the liver with a catheter through a small surgical incision on the abdomen. Transplanted islets release insulin and ensure an almost physiologic glycemic control, however, long-term follow-up on islet recipients showed that graft function decreases over time. Moreover, patients have to face a life-long immunosuppressive therapy. Beta cell failure after islet transplant is not fully understood, rejection as well as the deleterious effects of immunosuppressants, and suboptimal location of islet grafts may play role in the process. The landmark study in the islet transplantation field, the so-called Edmonton trial described a new protocol that uses a much larger amount of islet cells and a different type of immunosuppressive therapy. Scientists from Edmonton, Canada reported that seven out of seven patients who received islet cell transplants no longer needed to take insulin, and their blood glucose concentrations were normal a year after surgery [12]. The five year follow-up study on sixty-five patients has been published, and the results are still promising concerning to the control of blood glucose levels, but only 10% of the patients remained totally insulin-independent at 5 years [13]. These findings point to the need for further progress in improving islet engraftment, preserving islet function, and reducing toxic immunosuppression.

The application of this treatment is restricted by the very limited availability of donor tissue. Nowadays, due to the limited supply of cadaveric pancreases, the main

indication for islet transplantation is problematic hypoglycemia. Islet cells are obtained from cadavers and at least two cadavers are needed per transplant. Furthermore, as with any transplant, the islet cells must be immunologically compatible and freshly obtained. These requirements are difficult to meet, and the list of patients in wait for transplants far exceeds the available donor tissue.

The shortage of donor organs spurs the research into alternative means of generating beta cells. Essentially, a limitless supply of competent insulin-producing beta cells would be desirable, and cell-based therapies for both type 1 and type 2 diabetes are heavily investigated. Differentiated beta cells are difficult to culture and expand, whereas, stem or progenitor cells hold the capacity to multiply in culture and they are multipotent, in a sense that they are capable of forming cells from more than one germ layer. Presently, it is not clear whether it will be desirable to produce only beta cells for diabetes therapy or whether other types of pancreatic islet cells are also necessary. Theoretically, insulin-secreting beta cells that are derived *in vitro* from stem or precursor cells under experimental conditions could be transplanted into patients. Obviously, researchers have encountered many obstacles during the procedure of stem cell differentiation and the road to stem cell therapy will be long. However, this field of research holds the promise for a future curative therapy for diabetes.

Clearly, the understanding of beta cell development, and beta cell biology with detailed mechanisms of insulin transcription, translation and secretion is needed in order to provide better treatment and hopefully, one day, a cure for patients with diabetes. Over the past few decades, beta cells have been studied extensively. Most research has focused on the development of the pancreatic beta cells, and on the regulation and molecular biology of insulin synthesis and release. Consequently, many features of beta cell biology are now better understood, and a detailed description of the current knowledge is provided below. However, there are many aspects of beta cell biology yet to be described, and the current thesis is aimed at investigating the natural course of beta cell maturation and phenotypic changes and impairment in diabetic conditions.

## 1.1 Beta cell generation

A beta cell is defined by its ability to store large amounts of insulin and to secrete it in a regulated manner in response to a demand, such as glucose stimulation [14]. There are different approaches to obtain functional, insulin-producing cells from various types of progenitor cells. The possible tissue sources for generating beta cells include (1) fetal tissue {(a) human embryonic stem cells [15, 16], and (b) umbilical cord blood for mesenchymal stromal cells [17, 18]}, and (2) adult tissue {(c) induced pluripotent stem cells from human somatic cells [18], (d) bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stromal cells [19], (e) organ specific stem or progenitor cells such as oval cells [20], (f) duct epithelial cells [21], (g) acinar cells [22] and (h) liver cells [23, 24]. Early attempts to generate beta cells directly from embryonic stem cells or other cell sources were successful in producing insulin containing cells [25-27], however, these cells were not true beta cells as they failed to secrete insulin in a regulated manner and they did not contain proinsulin-derived C-peptide [28, 29]. Later, it has become evident, that most effective protocols for the derivation of cells that express insulin recapitulate normal embryonic development, and such protocols using human embryonic stem cells yielded a cell population with more beta cell like characteristics [15]. Of note, these in vitro derived cells still fail to function like normal beta cells, and further differentiation is necessary in vivo (after implantation of beta-like cells into mice) in order to achieve a more mature beta cell phenotype [16].

The precise knowledge of transcription factors that regulate the development of the embryonic pancreas from the endoderm germ layer into a fully mature pancreas with endocrine and exocrine functions became essential. From mouse models we know that there are four distinct phases of beta cell generation [30]. The primary endocrine cell phase (before embryonic day 13 in mice) during which a few endocrine cells are generated, which are mostly glucagon positive, with few insulin positive cells, that contain low levels of insulin, co-express glucagon, and lack mature beta cell markers, including transcription factors Nkx6.1, MafA and Pdx1 (detailed description of beta cell transcription factors is provided below) [31]. The next phase is called secondary transition (embryonic days 13-18 in mice), during which beta cell neogenesis from

ductal epithelium (tubular progentiors) accelerates dramatically, and the newly formed cells are more similar to mature beta cells. The process of differentiation of progenitor cells down the endocrine linage is initiated by the transient expression of transcription factor Ngn3 [32]. Simultaneously, exocrine acinar cells start to differentiate, and the progenitor cells became restricted to the ducts. The third phase of beta cell formation starts shortly before birth and lasts through the first few weeks of postnatal life [33]. This period is characterized by a significant expansion in beta cells due to proliferation. A similar expansion also occurs in human infants [34]. The final phase of beta cell generation occurs in adulthood, when replacement or expansion of beta cell mass happens in response to metabolic needs. This period is not well characterized, as signals that drive the process are not well known and the sources of new beta cells remained unidentified. Latest research suggests that in mice, adult beta cell regeneration mostly depends on proliferation of preexisting beta cells rather than neogenesis; whereas in humans, neogenesis from pancreatic ductal epithelium and beta cell proliferation probably contributes equally to the regeneration process [35].

Table 1. Transcription factors involved in	endocrine pancreas development an	d
implicated in diabetes.		
Constrain offerted	Dh an atrum a	

Gene/protein affected	Phenotype			
Monogenic diabetes				
$Hnf4\alpha$	MODY1			
Hnfl $\alpha$	MODY3			
Pdx1	MODY4			
Hnf1 $\beta$	MODY5			
NeuroD1	MODY6			
Polygenic contribution to diabetes				
Pax4	Late-onset diabetes			
Isll	Late-onset diabetes			
Ngn3	Late-onset diabetes			

Several transcription factors are now recognized to be critical regulators of pancreatic development based on mouse models in which specific genes have been deleted (gene

knock-outs) or inhibited. Remarkably, almost without exception, disruption of these genes has resulted in phenotypes of impaired development of the pancreas and consequent diabetes. Furthermore, lessons learned from the gene knock-outs in mice have been used to successfully identify mutations in several of the corresponding orthologous genes in individuals with familial monogenic type 2 diabetes (Table 1). Detailed description of some of the most crucial transcription factors is given below and a simplified transcription factor cascade is depicted in Figure 1., based on recent reviews [36]. Expression patterns of transcription factors limit the boundaries of the developing pancreas and determine the differentiation programs of individual cell lineages. Importantly, transcription factors appear to serve dual functions in determining early cellular development and later in maintaining the phenotype of terminally differentiated cells.



Figure 1. A simplified model of the transcription factor cascade during endocrine differentiation in the developing pancreas. Arx, aristaless related homeobox; Foxa2, forkhead box A2; Hnf1 $\beta$ , and 4 $\alpha$ , hepatic nuclear factor 1 $\beta$ , and 4 $\alpha$ ; MafA, and B, musculoaponeurotic fibrosarcoma oncogene homolog A and B; NeuroD1, neurogenic differentiation 1; Ngn3, neurogenin 3; Nkx2.2, and 6.1, NK2 homeobox 2 and NK6 homeobox 1; Pax4, and 6, paired box 4, and 6; Pdx1, pancreatic and duodenal homeobox 1; Ptf1a, pancreas specific transcription factor 1a; Sox9: sex determining region Y box 9. The figure is a modified version of the model by German [36].

# 1.1.1. Pdx1

The pancreatic duodenal homeobox gene-1 (Pdx1) is a master regulator of both pancreatic development and the differentiation of progenitor cells into the beta cell phenotype [37]. Because Pdx1 is a pancreas-specific homeoprotein, it was cloned and identified as a beta and delta cell specific regulatory factor for transcriptional expression of insulin and somatostatin genes and has subsequently been shown to regulate the expression of other islet-specific genes, including Glut2 [38], and glucokinase [39]. In the differentiated beta cell, Pdx1 is a glucose-responsive regulator of insulin gene expression [40, 41]. The function of Pdx1 in response to glucose is regulated by both its phosphorylation [42] and nuclear translocation [43].

The patterns of expression of Pdx1 in the developing pancreas are maintained throughout development and provide both spatial and temporal contributions to the commitment of endoderm to a pancreatic phenotype. Based on mouse models, Pdx1 expression is first detected in murine cells in a narrow band of foregut endoderm, then is seen in both ventral and dorsal pancreatic buds, later Pdx1 is expressed throughout the developing ductal tree. As the exocrine pancreas appears and the islets begin to form into the hormone-producing cells, Pdx1 expression shifts to the endocrine compartment [44]. During the later stages of islet development, the expression of Pdx1 becomes mostly restricted to the mature beta cells of the endocrine pancreas [44]. In the adult pancreas, subpopulations of somatostatin-producing and pancreatic polypeptide-producing cells also express Pdx-1 [44].

Targeted disruption of the Pdx1 gene in mice results in agenesis of the pancreas [45]. Notably, a child born without a pancreas (pancreatic agenesis) was homozygous for an inactivating mutation in Pdx1 [46], underscoring the importance of this transcription factor in the development of the human, as well as the mouse, pancreas.

### 1.1.2. Ngn3, Notch signaling, and Hes

Notch signaling is an important factor in the somatogenesis of the vertebrate embryo [47], and there is evidence of Notch signaling in the developing pancreas, suggesting a primary role for governing cell fate [48, 49].

The basic concept of Notch signaling relies on lateral inhibition [47]. Percursor cells express extracellular ligands, such as Jagged, that activate Notch receptors on adjacent cells, and downstream signaling results in expression of Hes genes. The Hes genes encode basic helix-loop-helix (bHLH) factors that function to repress Ngn3 and other target genes, therefore prevents the differentiation of these cells adjacent to the original differentiating cell. In essence, the lateral inhibition model provides a mechanism by which the cell that will differentiate into the endocrine lineage (Ngn3 positive) inhibits its neighboring cells, forcing them to adopt a non-endocrine fate.

In the generation of the pancreas, Ngn3 is required for the development of all endocrine cell lineages [49] and has been designated as a marker of islet precursor cells. Ngn3 promoter contains binding sites for and is activated by upstream factors Hnf3 $\beta$ , Hnf1 $\beta$ , and Hnf6 (hepatic nuclear factors). Expression of Ngn3 starts around pancreatic bud formation from the foregut, and it peaks during the major wave of endocrine cell genesis. By birth, Ngn3 expression is greatly diminished and it is not detectable in the adult pancreas.

Significantly, mice homozygous for an Ngn3-null mutation failed to generate any endocrine cells or putative endocrine precursors during development [49]. These observations led to the assumption that Ngn3 expression is a functional marker of an islet cell precursor population in the developing pancreas. More recently, a case of permanent neonatal diabetes and congenital malabsorptive diarrhea secondary to enteroendocrine cell dysgenesis was reported, where severe deficiency of Ngn3 was confirmed due to biallelic mutations [50]. This finding also confirms the essential role of Ngn3 in humans.

#### 1.1.3. NeuroD1/Beta2

The basic helix-loop-helix transcription factor NeuroD1 (also known as Beta 2) is a key regulator of both insulin gene transcription in pancreatic beta cells and the terminal differentiation of neurons, hence its name [51, 52]. NeuroD1 expression initiates slightly later than Ngn3 during pancreatic development. First, the expression appears within and in proximity to ductal epithelium, and later it becomes restricted to islets. NeuroD1 heterodimerizes with ubiquitously expressed E47 to regulate transcription of

the insulin gene and other beta cell-specific genes. Expression of the NeuroD1 gene is activated by Ngn3 [53].

Mice homozygous for a targeted disruption of the NeuroD1 gene survive to birth, but die within 3–5 days postpartum of severe hyperglycemia. The islets of these mice are dysmorphic and have markedly diminished numbers of endocrine cells arranged in streaks and irregular aggregates and reduced numbers of beta cells [54].

# 1.1.4. Pax4 and Pax6

Pax4 and Pax6 are paired box homeoproteins, whose expression is restricted to the endocrine pancreas and the central nervous system [55, 56].

Pax4 is expressed in the developing pancreas buds, and by the time of birth, expression is restricted to beta cells. Targeted disruption of Pax4 in mice results in a striking pancreatic phenotype; there is a virtual absence of beta and delta cells, but alpha cells are increased [55]. The Pax4-null mice survive birth, but die within 3 days of hyperglycemia and dehydration. Pdx-1 expression in Pax4-null pancreas is absent, a finding consistent with the absence of differentiated beta cells. Thus, Pax4 functions early in the development of islet cells to promote the differentiation of beta and delta cells.

Pax6 is expressed early in the epithelium of the developing pancreas, and later, contrary to Pax4, it is expressed widely in differentiated endocrine cells, including alpha, beta, delta and PP cells. A spontaneous mutation of the Pax6 gene in mice results in abnormal organization of the islets, with decreased number of alpha, beta, delta and PP cells, and reduced glucagon and insulin production [57]. Knock-out Pax6 nullizygous mice die within minutes of birth, and these animals fail to form islets [58].

These mouse models of gene knock-outs implicate both Pax4 and Pax6 as key regulators of the terminal steps in cellular differentiation of the endocrine pancreas.

### 1.1.5. Nkx2.2 and Nkx6.1

Members of the Nkx family of homeoprotein transcription factors, Nkx2.2 and Nkx6.1, are regulators of the differentiation of pancreatic endocrine cells [59]. Nkx2.2 is

expressed early in developing pancreatic buds and is later restricted to alpha, beta, and PP cells of islets. Nkx6.1 is expressed primarily in beta cells of adult islets.

Disruption of either the Nkx2.2 or Nkx6.1 gene in mice results in death soon after birth due to severe diabetes [60]. The pancreata of Nkx2.2 and Nkx6.1 knockout mice have no insulin-producing cells, and glucagon producing cells are diminished, although the exocrine pancreas is histologically normal [60, 61].

# 1.1.6. MafA and MafB

MafA and MafB are members of a large family of basic leucine zipper transcription factors. In the adult pancreas, MafA expression is restricted to mature beta cells [62], whereas MafB is typical of the mature alpha cells. Interestingly, during embryogenesis, MafB is expressed early in pancreatic endocrine cells (both in glucagon-positive and insulin-positive cells), where it regulates the expression of key factors that are required for the production of mature alpha and beta cells [63]. MafA is produced only in insulin-positive cells within the pancreas, with production first detected around secondary transition, during the principal wave of beta cell production [64]. At a late stage of differentiation, even after birth, beta cells undergo a switch from MafB to MafA, concomitant with the acquisition of glucose sensing and other characteristics of the mature beta cell [65].

MafA is an essential, glucose-responsive transcriptional activator in adult beta cells, due in part to regulating genes associated with cell identity, including insulin, Glut2 and prohormone convertase PC1/3. Adult islet MafA levels appear to be a sensitive barometer of beta cell function, since many key metabolic and cellular effectors, such as glucose [62], fatty acids [66], and insulin [67], greatly impact MafA expression.

It is noteworthy, that MafA null mutant mice have overall normal pancreatic development, but develop diabetes later in life [68]. This finding in accordance with the notion that MafA is not necessary for beta cell specification, but it plays a role in beta cell function in mature animals.

In contrast to MafA knock-outs, in MafB null mutants, there is delayed development of early insulin-positive and glucagon-positive cells, and a 50% reduction

in insulin-positive and glucagon-positive cells overall, with an abundance of hormonenegative cells that appear otherwise to be of the endocrine lineage. Thus, MafB appears to be a key regulator of alpha and beta cell formation [63].

## 1.2. Regulation of insulin gene expression

Increases in blood glucose levels stimulate insulin gene transcription and insulin secretion. Insulin gene transcription is mainly controlled by a 340 bp promoter region upstream of the transcription start site of the insulin gene. The insulin promoter region comprises cis-acting sequence motifs, which serve as binding sites for both beta cellspecific and ubiquitous transcription factors [69]. Much of the glucose responsiveness inherent to the insulin promoter is conferred by the A3, E1 and C1 sites, which are bound by the transcription factors Pdx1 [70], NeuroD1 [51] and MafA [71] respectively. These three transcription factors act in a coordinated and synergistic manner to stimulate insulin gene expression in response to increased glucose levels [69, 72] (Figure 2). Compared with humans, rodents (rat and mouse) have two insulin genes, of which the insulin II gene and its promoter is mostly similar to that of humans [73]. On the basis of the analysis of transcription factor-binding sites and spacing of the cis-regulatory elements, there are significant differences between rodent and human insulin gene promoters. However, a detailed comparative analysis of the insulin promoters from various species suggest that the all three regulatory elements (A3, E1 and C1), important for glucose regulation of insulin gene expression, are conserved between species with the A-box (A3) to which Pdx1 binds being the most highly conserved one [74].



Figure 2. Insulin gene promoter is activated by the glucose-responsive, synergistic action of transcription factors Pdx1, MafA and NeuroD1.

Although Pdx1, NeuroD1 and MafA have been shown to be crucial for glucose regulation of insulin gene transcription, the exact mechanisms by which glucose modulates the function of these transcription factors remains to be established. In the case of Pdx1, it has been proposed that glucose modulates the function of Pdx1 by regulating the localization and DNA-binding activity of Pdx1 [75]. Several lines of evidence suggest that also NeuroD1 changes its localization in response to changing glucose levels. Under normal glucose conditions, NeuroD1 is mainly cytosolic, and exposure to high glucose causes its translocation into the nucleus [76]. MafA expression itself requires high glucose. Although expression of MafA is low under normal glucose conditions, MafA transcription increases drastically in response to high glucose [71, 77].

### 1.3. Glucose-stimulated insulin secretion

Beta cells are highly specialized cells that maintain blood glucose levels in the physiologically relevant range by rapid and precise changes in insulin secretion in response to nutrient secretagogues, particularly glucose [78]. Specialised metabolic pathways ensure the coupling of external nutrient stimuli to insulin secretion in adult beta cells [79] (Figure 3). During glycolysis in the adult beta cell, glucose is metabolized to pyruvate and the glucose-derived carbons are then oxidized in the mitochondria [80]. The very low expression of lactate dehydrogenase and monocarboxylate transporters results in negligible lactate production [81]. Glycolysisderived cytosolic NADH is reoxidized in mitochondrial membrane shuttles, which include glycerol-phosphate, and the malate-aspartate, pyruvate-citrate and pyruvatemalate shuttles [82, 83]. In addition, beta cells show strong pyruvate carboxylase activity [83] that facilitates the flux of pyruvate into the pyruvate-malate and pyruvatecitrate shuttles. Glucose oxidation promotes the production of ATP, the key metabolic coupling factor for glucose-stimulated insulin secretion (GSIS). The closing of ATPdependent K<sup>+</sup> channels results in depolarisation, opening of voltage-activated Ca<sup>2+</sup> channels and subsequent exocytosis of the insulin granules. GSIS can also be stimulated by glucose metabolism, which exerts its effect independently of the ATP-

dependent  $K^+$  channels, working through as yet undefined mechanisms [84]. In addition, there are other metabolic and neurohormonal amplifying pathways in beta cells that can potentiate insulin release.



Figure 3. The current concept of glucose-stimulated insulin secretion in pancreatic beta cells, described in details in the text. Abbreviations: glc, glucose; OxPhos, oxidative phosphorylation;  $\Delta \Psi$ , membrane depolarisation.

#### 1.4. Immature glucose-stimulated insulin secretion from fetal/neonatal islets

Although the metabolism of adult beta cells has been characterised extensively, that of fetal/neonatal beta cells is less well understood. Both human and rodent fetal and rodent neonatal islets [85-90] lack glucose responsiveness despite adequate insulin reserves [91], but secrete insulin in response to amino acids, particularly leucine [92, 93]. When newborn (P1) Sprague–Dawley rat islets were tested in a dose–response experiment using different secretagogues, insulin secretion was impaired in response to all stimuli; insulin secretion in response to different secretagogues started to rise at 1

week of age [93, 94]. The insulin secretion in response to glucose of perifused islets of different-aged rats [95] was small compared with adult islets at postnatal day (P) 7, with a slight increment at P14 and a doubling at P21; however, even at P21, the response was less than half of that of adult islets (see Figure 4, adapted from Bliss et Sharp). A variety of mechanisms focusing on individual genes have been proposed to account for immature insulin secretion, including lack of inhibition of fatty acid oxidation by glucose metabolism [95], lack of increased ATP content in response to glucose stimulation [96], and low levels and activity of mitochondrial glycerol-3-phosphate dehydrogenase and mitochondrial malate dehydrogenase, both NADH shuttle enzymes [97].



Figure 4. Insulin release from islets from rats of different ages in response to 16.7 mM glucose (G). Adapted from Bliss et Sharp, 1992 [95].

My primary objective was to study the mechanisms responsible for the immaturity of glucose-stimulated insulin secretion in rat beta cells by comparing gene expressional profiles of neonatal (P1) and adult beta cells. Beta cell immaturity proved to be a complex phenomenon, involving lower expression of many key metabolic enzymes

[98]. During the first weeks of postnatal life, expression of these genes increased in islets as insulin secretory responsiveness matured. Thus, the generalised low expression of key metabolic enzymes, may account for the poor glucose-responsiveness of neonatal beta cells [98].

### 1.5. Role of transcription factors in the maturation of beta cells

With many genes differentially expressed in the neonatal beta cell, a possible role of differential expression of key beta cell-enriched transcription factors must be considered. Pdx1 and MafA are most likely to be involved in the maturation process, because their expression is turned on after that of insulin during development [65]. Target genes of both Pdx1 [99] and MafA [100] have been reported, with many exocytotic genes regulated by Pdx1, and genes of insulin synthesis and secretion regulated by MafA. As discussed before, Pdx1 is crucial in pancreas formation [45, 101] and beta cell differentiation [38, 102, 103]. A role for MafA in maturation is supported by: (1) several of its putative target genes (insulin 2, prohormone convertase 1/3 (Pcsk1) and glucagon-like peptide 1 receptor (Glp1r) [100]) have reduced expression in neonatal beta cells [98]; (2) the switch from MafB+MafA-Insulin+ to MafB-MafA+Insulin+ cell state is a late stage event in beta cell differentiation [65]; and (3) the MafA-deficient mice appear normal at birth but later develop impaired secretagogue-stimulated insulin secretion and glucose intolerance [68]. In addition, insulin-expressing MafB+ cells derived from human embryonic stem cells lacked glucose-stimulated insulin secretion in vitro [15, 104] but acquired both glucose responsiveness and MafA production after transplantation into mice [16].

My secondary objective was to assess whether maturation of neonatal beta cells into glucose-responsive, mature insulin secreting cells is regulated by Pdx1 and/or MafA, by overexpressing these factors in neonatal islets.

# 1.6. Role of MafA in mature beta cell function

MafA is unique to the beta cells and appears to be essential for maturation [105], rather than being a developmental factor and playing a role in cell commitment [68]. MafA has been shown to be critical for adult beta cell function, because mice lacking MafA become glucose intolerant and develop diabetes, although insulin content of islets *per se* is not affected [68]. In addition, MafA knock-down experiments in cell lines suggested that MafA has a function beyond regulating insulin transcription. Several beta cell important genes were progressively down-regulated with the loss of functional MafA in cell lines [100]. The confirmation of these putative MafA target genes, including Glut2 and Pcsk1, is awaited in primary cells and in *in vivo* experiments.

There are natural and pathological conditions where beta cells are "dysfunctional" and do not respond to glucose with insulin secretion.

One such example is the previously discussed neonatal period, which is not really impairment but rather an immature state, characterized by the lack of glucose-responsive insulin secretion. In my secondary objective, we studied the effects of enhanced MafA expression in neonatal beta cells as we speculated that it could drive the acquisition of glucose-responsive insulin secretion [105].

Another dysfunctional beta cell state develops when adult beta cells are exposed to chronic glucotoxicity. MafA levels were reported to be lower and GSIS is impaired in glucotoxic beta cells, along with the down-regulation of several important genes of the beta cell metabolism [106]. Normalization of glucose homeostasis reconstitutes MafA expression and restore glucose-stimulated insulin secretion [106].

My tertiary objective was to establish the causal relationship between MafA expression and functional integrity of adult beta cell; and to study MafA targets besides insulin with the inhibition of MafA function in adult rat beta cells.

My final objective was to investigate the ability of MafA over-expression in a diabetic model to restore glucose-stimulated insulin secretion.

# 2. Aims

The general objective of my PhD thesis is to provide a molecular description of the evolving beta cell phenotype; from the immature neonatal period, through the mature, glucose-responsive stage, to the development of glucotoxicity and a dysfunctional beta cell phenotype (Figure 5).

# AIM 1. To characterize the underlying mechanisms responsible for the immature, glucose-unresponsive phenotype of neonatal beta cells.

Postulating that the mechanisms responsible for neonatal beta cell immaturity are complex, we used microarray analysis to compare the gene expression profile of neonatal (postnatal day P1) and adult beta cells excised by laser-capture microdissection. Sets of genes with differential expression were confirmed with quantitative realtime PCR (qPCR) and immunostaining. Moreover, expression pattern of these genes were followed during the first weeks of postnatal life, as the insulin secretion of the islets matures.

# AIM 2. To assess whether maturation of neonatal beta cells into glucoseresponsive, mature insulin secreting cells is regulated by transcription factor MafA and/or Pdx1.

We characterized the expression of MafA and Pdx1 and that of other key beta cell genes during the first 4 weeks of postnatal life. We hypothesized that enhancing the expression levels of these factors in neonatal beta cells could drive the acquisition of glucose-responsive insulin secretion.

# AIM 3. To characterize the importance of MafA in regulating beta cell function in adult rat islets.

We hypothesized that there is a causal relationship between MafA expression and functional integrity of adult beta cell; and we studied MafA targets besides insulin with the inhibition of MafA function in adult rat beta cells.

# AIM 4. To test the role of MafA in dysfunctional beta cells.

We investigate the ability of MafA overexpression in a diabetic model to restore glucose-stimulated insulin secretion.



Figure 5. The paradigm of beta cell. The aims of the current thesis are described in the text.

# 3. Methods

### **3.1.** Animals

Adult Sprague-Dawley rats (male and female), female Goto-Kakizaki (GK) rats (12 weeks old) and age-, gender-matched Wistar-Kyoto rats were purchased from Taconic Farms (Germantown, NY). In order to have P1 animals (P0 as day of birth) pregnant animals were purchased and checked daily until delivery. Animals were kept under conventional conditions in climatized rooms, with free access to tap water and standard pelleted food. Fed glucose levels and body weight of the adult animals were monitored weekly. All procedures were approved by the Joslin Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee. Neonatal pups were nursed until they were killed at P1, P2, P7, P9, P11, P13, P15, P21 or P28. For immunostaining, excised pancreases (n=3 for P2, P7 and adult) were fixed by immersion in 4% paraformaldehyde, and stored in PBS until paraffin embedding and sectioning. For laser capture microdissection (LCM), excised pancreas immersed in TissueTek OCT medium (VWR Scientific Products, San Diego, CA) was rapidly frozen in chilled isobutane and immediately stored at -80°C.

Adult male rats were anaesthetized with Nembutal for islet isolation by collagenase digestion according to the method described by Gotoh [107] with rodent Liberase RI (Roche, Indianapolis, IN). Islets from two adults were pooled as one sample. For neonatal islets, rats were decapitated and pancreases from a litter (10–12 pups) were pooled, finely minced and digested with Liberase solution. Adult and neonatal islets were purified by gradient separation using Histopaque-1077 (Sigma, St Louis, MO), and after overnight culture were handpicked under a stereomicroscope to ensure high purity. Islets were then further processed for *in vitro* experiments, or were put in Buffer RLT reagent (Qiagen, Germantown, MD) for RNA extraction and stored at -80°C.

### 3.2. Laser-capture microdissection

Frozen sections (8  $\mu$ m) on uncoated slides were quickly processed for LCM: first in 70% ethanol for 10 sec, haematoxylin for 40 sec, dehydrated for 10 sec each in 70%

and 95% ethanol, stained with eosin for 10 sec and finally dehydrated for 3 min in 100% ethanol followed by xylene for a minimum of 2 min. Once sections were airdried, beta cell-enriched cores of islets were microdissected using a PixCell II LCM system (Arcturus, Mountain View, CA). For each sample, at least 4,000 'hits' from two to five islets per section were excised from 10–20 sections. Total RNA from each sample was extracted using a modification of the RNA microisolation protocol as described [108-110]. T7-based RNA amplification was carried out using the RiboAmp kit (Arcturus) according to the manufacturer's recommendations. To obtain enough amplified RNA for microarray, a second round of RNA amplification was performed [111].

# **3.3.** Microarray hybridization

Biotinylated cDNA (BioArray HighYield RNATranscript Labeling kit; Enzo Life Sciences, Farmingdale, NY, USA) of four adult and four neonatal beta cell-enriched samples were run on Affymetrix GeneChip Rat Genome U34A (Affymetrix, Santa Clara, CA; adult by MGH Cancer Center DNA Microarray Core Facility; neonatal by Joslin DERC Genomic Core). Data have been deposited in a MIAME-compliant database (GEO series accession number GSE24790). Analysis was performed using a DNA-Chip Analyzer (dChip; Harvard School of Public Health, Boston, MA, USA; www.dchip.org). This software uses the model-based expression analysis, which allows probe-level analysis on multiple arrays. As the LCM RNA samples were amplified before labeling, we followed the manufacturer's recommendation of using 50% masked data for analysis. Principal component analysis for sample classification with dChip software revealed that one of the adult samples was an outlier; therefore this array was excluded from further analysis. Data from multiple arrays are normalized to a common baseline array having the median overall brightness. Thus, by pooling information across multiple arrays, it is possible to assess the standard errors for the expression indices and to calculate confidence intervals for fold changes. Lower confidence boundary (LCB) and p values (<0.050) were used to assess differentially expressed genes.

Differentially expressed genes were classified into functionally related clusters using Database for Annotation, Visualization and Integrated Discovery (DAVID) software [112, 113]. The functional annotation tool of DAVID using high-classification stringency identified enriched functionally related gene groups; the enrichment p values are reported.

### 3.4. Adenovirus infection

Using the AdEasy system with a CMV promoter (Stratagene, La Jolla, CA) we generated recombinant adenoviruses expressing: AdMafA, expressing the full human MafA coding sequence; AdDN-MafA, containing a dominant negative mutant of MafA lacking the N-terminal transcriptional activation domain [100]; and AdNeuroD1, expressing the hamster NeuroD1 coding sequence; an adenovirus encoding green fluorescent protein alone (AdGFP) served as control. Adenovirus containing the coding sequence for Pdx1 (AdPdx1) was a kind gift from Dr. D. Melton [22]. All adenoviruses were amplified in 293Ad cells purchased from Stratagene (La Jolla, CA), and were purified with the Vivapure AdenoPACK 100 kit (Sartorius Stedim Biotech, Gottingen, Germany). Virus titers were established based on quantification of plaque formation.

After overnight culture in RPMI 1640 (11 mM glucose with 10% Fetal Bovine Serum [FBS] and 1% Penicillin-Streptomycin), islets were dispersed to single cells using trypsin (>10000 U/mg, from Sigma, St Louis, MO; final concentration 1 mg/mL) and DNAse (from Roche, Indianapolis, IN; final concentration 60 U/mL). Dispersed islet cell numbers were established and was calculated for the independent virus infections. Dispersed islets cells were incubated with adenoviruses at a multiplicity of infection (MOI) of 1 to 5 for 24 hours at low (5 mM) glucose RPMI 1640 (low 5 mM glucose with 10% FBS and antibiotics) on ultra-low attachment hydrophobic plates (Corning, Corning, NY), which allowed islet cell reaggregation. After the virus incubations, the media was changed to high (20 mM) glucose RPMI 1640 with the same supplements. The switch from low to high glucose concentration was chosen because it enables the strongest activation of important glucose-sensitive beta cell transcription factors including MafA, Pdx1 and NeuroD1.

# 3.5. RNA extraction from isolated islets and reverse transcription

Total RNA from isolated islets or reaggregated islet samples after various times of culture was extracted using RNeasy Plus Mini Kit (Qiagen, Germantown, MD). After quantification by spectrophotometry, 500 ng total RNA from each sample was used as starting material for cDNA preparation. Reverse transcription was done in 25 mL reaction solution containing 5 mL Superscript buffer, 0.1 M dithiothreitol (DTT), 50 ng random hexanucleotide primers, 10 mM dNTP, 200 units of RNaseOUT, and 200 units of Superscript II reverse transcriptase (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA). Reverse transcription reactions were incubated for 10 min at 25°C, 60 min at 42°C, and 10 min at 95°C. The resulting cDNA was diluted 1: 2 in nuclease-free water, resulting in 10 ng/mL final concentration and stored at -20°C until analysis.

Gene Name	Size (bp)	5' oligonucleotide	3'oligonucleotide
Carnitine palmitoyltransferase 1	295	GAGACACCAACCCCAAC ATC	GTCTCTGTCCTCCCTTCTCG
Carnitine palmitoyltransferase 2	196	GCAGATGAACCACAACA TCC	TTCCAAGCACTTCTGGACA C
Glutamate oxalacetic transferase 1	158	TGACCGGATTCTGACCAT G	AGATGTGCTTCTCGTTGAC C
Glycerol-3-phosphate dehvdrogenase 2	107	TGAGTTTCTGCAGCTGAT GA	TTGGAACTCTACGGTCCAA GT
Malate dehydrogenase	149	ACTCGTTCCCTGTCGTGA TC	TCATGCGGAGGAGAGAAA C
Malic enzyme 1	159	TTAGCCCACAGACTCATG GG	AGGACTTTCTCAGCAGCAG G
Pyruvate carboxylase	167	TTGAAGGATGTGAAGGG CC	ACCTTTCGGATAGTGCCCT C
Pyruvate kinase, L-type	248	AGCCGTGACCCAACTGA G	TCCACATCATCTGCCCAG
Ribosomal protein L32	82	CAATGTGTCCTCTAAGAA CCGAAA	CCTGGCGTTGGGATTGG

 Table 2. Sequences of oligonucleotide primers used for real-time PCR.

# **3.6.** Quantitative real-time PCR (qPCR) for confirmation of differential expression of genes

qPCR with SYBR Green detection was performed using the ABI7300 Real-time PCR System (Applied Biosystems, Foster City, CA, USA) with primers (Table 2) designed

using Primer Express (Applied Biosystems). Oligonucleotide specificity was computer tested (BLAST, NCBI), and later confirmed by dissociation curve analysis and resolving the PCR products in agarose gel electrophoresis. Each primer set displayed approximately equal efficiency for amplification of target cDNA. The reactions were set by mixing 10  $\mu$ l SYBR Green Master Mix (Applied Biosystems) with 1  $\mu$ l of each 5' and 3' oligonucleotides (10 pmol/ $\mu$ l) and 1  $\mu$ l cDNA sample (10 ng/ $\mu$ l). To exclude genomic DNA contamination, RT-negative samples were run for each cDNA sample. After normalization of the gene of interest to a control ribosomal gene (L32 or S25) [114], the comparative C<sub>T</sub> (threshold cycle) method was used to calculate relative gene expression levels. Adenoviral-hMafA mRNA was determined by comparison of two different sets of primers: one recognizing the coding sequence (CDS) of both endogenous (rat) and adenoinfected (human) MafA, and the other recognizing the 3' untranslated (UTR) sequence of MafA only present in the endogenous transcript.

## 3.7. Insulin secretion in vitro

Insulin secretion of the islet cell aggregates was measured with sequential static incubations 24, 36, 48 and 72 hours after adenoviral infections. Aggregates were preincubated for 1 hour in low (2.8 mM) glucose Krebs-Ringer bicarbonate buffer (KRBH, with 16 mM HEPES and 0.1% Bovine Serum Albumin, pH 7.4) to establish basal conditions. The buffer was then replaced for fresh low glucose KRBH for 1 hour, followed by KRBH containing various reagents stimulating insulin secretion (16.7 mM glucose, low glucose with 10 mM leucine and 4 mM glutamine, low glucose with 10 mM arginine, or low glucose with 30 mM KCl). Media aliquots were collected at the end of the low glucose incubation and after stimulation and stored at -20°C until insulin analysis with Insulin Rat EIA kit (ALPCO Diagnostics, Salem, NH). Aggregate lysates after sonication were assayed for DNA content (CyQUANT kit, Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA) and insulin content.

# 3.8. Insulin secretion in vivo: intra-peritoneal glucose tolerance test

For intraperitoneal glucose tolerance tests (IPGTT), rats were fasted with free access to

water only, for 8–12 h. Rats were then injected intraperitoneally with 10% glucose solution at a dose of 2 g/kg body weight. Blood glucose readings were performed from the tail vein at 0, 30, 60, 90 and 120 minutes post injection, using OneTouch Ultra blood glucose meter (LifeScan, Milpitas, CA).

### **3.9.** Western Blot analysis

20 µg of total protein extract of sonicated islets were boiled for 5 min in the presence of  $\beta$ -mercaptoethanol and resolved on 10% SDS-PAGE (polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis), transferred to PVDF membranes and probed with either MafA antibody (1:2000, [65]) or HSV antibody (1:5000, Abcam, Cambridge, MA), which detects the HSV-tagged DN-MafA protein. GFP was used as a loading control. Primary antibodies were diluted in Tris-buffered saline containing 0.05% Tween 20 (TBST). Membranes were washed in TBST and incubated with either anti-rabbit or anti-mouse secondary antibodies conjugated to horseradish peroxidase (Bio-Rad Laboratories, Hercules, CA). The blots were visualized with chemiluminescence SuperSignal West Dura reagent (Pierce, Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA).

# 3.10. Immunostaining

Paraffin sections were blocked for endogenous peroxidase, microwaved in 10 mmol/l citrate buffer pH 6.0 for 15 min at 20% power and then incubated overnight at 4°C with anti-pyruvate kinase antibody (1:100 goat-anti rabbit, US Biologicals, Swampscott, MA), then with biotinylated anti-goat IgG (Vector Laboratories, Burlingame, CA) 1 hour, with ABC reagent 1 hour and visualized with VIP (Vector VIP substrate kit for peroxidase, Vector Labs). Incubations with anti-rabbit glycerol-3-phosphate dehydrogenase (1:100, the kind gift of M. MacDonald, Department of Pediatrics, University of Wisconsin, WI), donkey biotinylated anti-rabbit IgG (1:400), were followed by streptavidin-conjugated Alexafluor Green (1:400). Sections were double stained for insulin (guinea pig anti-human, 1:200, Linco Research, St Charles, MO) with Texas Red-conjugated Affinipure donkey anti-guinea pig IgG (1:400) as secondary antibody. Images were taken with an Olympus BH2 or, in confocal mode, a

Zeiss 410 or 710 LSM microscope. Sections of different ages were stained and photographed in parallel using the same settings, so the relative intensities reflect the protein levels. For beta cell composition, pancreatic sections double stained with anti-insulin and a cocktail of anti-non-beta cell hormones were imaged by tile scan collection, and then the insulin-positive area of all clusters at least 35  $\mu$ m diameter were quantified as proportion of total islet area (Table 5).

# 3.11. Data analysis

For statistical analysis, unpaired Student's t test was used. To see differences among groups, ANOVA was used followed by post hoc analysis (Tukey's). A p value <0.050 was considered statistically significant.

# 4. Results

# Characterization of immature, glucose-unresponsive neonatal beta cells

# Microarray analysis revealed different mRNA expression patterns in neonatal compared with adult beta cells

Using dChip analysis on 50% masked probes and the high stringency LCB cutoff of 2 and p<0.050, we found 217 genes/ 38 expressed sequence tags (ESTs) higher in neonatal compared with adult beta cell-enriched cores and 345 genes/33 ESTs lower in neonatal; with a false-discovery rate of 4.9%. Hierarchical clustering analysis of differentially expressed genes showed a clear separation between neonatal and adult control samples (Figure 6). Differentially expressed genes ranged widely across biochemical functions, including metabolism, cell cycle, ion channels and cell surface proteins.



**Figure 6. Heat map display of the differentially expressed genes in laser captured enriched beta cells from neonatal (P1) and adult pancreas.** dChip analysis with LCB cutoff of 2 and p<0.050.

For an unbiased analysis of the differentially expressed genes in neonatal beta cells (LCB>2, p<0.050), DAVID functional annotation clustering [112, 113] was used.

The functional annotation clustering algorithm of the DAVID program systematically analyzes gene lists according to gene ontology terms and statistically highlights the most overrepresented (enriched) biological annotation as clusters of biological processes [112]. Here the top 15 clusters for higher and lower expressed genes in the neonatal compared to adult beta cells are presented (Figure 7.). Bars represent enrichment scores, which are calculated as the negative logarithm of the geometric mean of the individual over-representation P value in each cluster. The number of genes and corresponding percent of each biological process relative to a total number of genes in a specific comparison are shown to the right of the bars.



Figure 7. Gene ontology analysis of genes expressed significantly higher (panel a), in red, lower confidence boundary >2) or lower (panel b, in blue, lower confidence boundary <-2) in neonatal versus adult beta cell-enriched islet cores.

The three most highly enriched clusters from the genes expressed higher in the neonatal beta cell samples (extracellular matrix, ribosomes and developmental process) might be expected for newly differentiated tissues. The enrichment score of the organelle/mitochondrial membrane genes (11.92, which is more than double that of other categories) indicates a very strong over-representation. This robust enrichment suggests a systemic lower expression of mitochondrial genes, especially those for the membrane bound proteins and shuttle enzymes. Clusters that might also be expected for immaturity of beta cell function, such as calcium handling and membrane-bound vesicles, had enrichment scores of 1.5 but were only ranked as clusters 30 and 31 respectively; regulation of hormone secretion cluster showed no enrichment (enrichment score 0.67).

In contrast the three most highly enriched clusters for the genes with lower expression in the neonates were organelle/mitochondrial membrane, organelle lumen and negative regulation of apoptosis. Of interest, clusters of regulation of apoptosis/cell death are enriched in both neonatally higher and lower differentially expressed genes, even though the same genes are not represented in both. The frequency of apoptosis is about 3-fold higher in neonatal beta cells than adults [115].

Less stringent criteria (LCB cutoff of 1.2 and p<0.050) were used to selectively analyze genes important in the beta cell phenotype. The number of genes higher in neonatal samples increased to 363 probe sets for genes/54 ESTs and those with reduced gene expression increased to 685 genes/ 68 ESTs. It is striking that a high percentage of genes in the mitochondrial shuttles and fatty acid metabolism were differentially expressed. We focused on differentially expressed genes of the beta cell-specialized metabolic pathway, grouping them into functional clusters (Table 3 and 4).

Table 3. Expression of metabolic genes in beta cells grouped into functional categories (Glycolysis, Krebs-cycle, Mitochondrial shuttles). Genes of the various pathways are listed with the mean $\pm$ SEM, fold change (FC), lower confidence boundary (LCB) and p-value as determined with dChip. Where multiple probe sets were on the microarray, the more stringent \_at set is listed; if no\_at probe set, the set with highest expression is listed. Microarray signals of adult (n=3) and neonatal (n=4) samples. Those with significance (p<0.050, fold change of 1.5 or greater, LCB of 1.2, and signal mean difference of at least 100) are marked with asterisks.

Probe set	Gene	Adult	Neonate	FC	LCB	p- value
Glycolysis						
L28135_at	Slc2a2 (Glut2)	16679±1942	7253±3157	-2.30	-1.28	0.055
D63834_at	Slc16a1 (Mct1)	49±17	286±79	5.84	2.74	0.055
rc_AI012593_at	Hxk1	1535±427	4245±1415	2.76	1.16	0.150
M68971_at	Hxk2*	1169±2	3278±642	2.80	1.90	0.046
X53588_at	Gck (Hxk4)	1751±172	1847±519	1.05	0.56	0.871
X58865mRNA_at	Pfkl*	1290±157	538±74	-2.40	-1.77	0.024
U25651_at	Pfkm*	6665±228	3140±601	-2.12	-1.60	0.006
L25387_at	Pfkp	99±61	144±71	1.45	0.24	0.653
M12919mRNA#2_at	Aldoa	96±38	488±245	5.07	0.85	0.207
X02284_at	Aldob	524±42	481±66	-1.09	-0.85	0.604
X06984cds_s_at	Aldoc	277±129	1416±731	5.11	0.73	0.218
rc_AI104399_at	Tpil	6406±1864	3446±1261	-1.86	-0.84	0.263
M17701_s_at	Gapdh	800±142	320±113	-2.49	-1.40	0.055
rc_AA892797_at	Pgk1*	2088±276	900±341	-2.32	-1.34	0.042
S63233_at	Pgam1	4582±574	3728±695	-1.23	-0.86	0.387
Z17319_at	Pgam2	306±69	3505±1440	11.46	3.60	0.113
X02610_at	Eno1	160±49	287±145	1.80	0.30	0.457
X07729exon#5_s_at	Eno2	2034±28	1187±615	-1.71	-0.92	0.262
rc_AA851223_at	Eno3	1036±307	61±47	-16.86	-5.83	0.083
X05684_at	Pklr	1871±624	363±127	-5.16	-2.08	0.132
rc_AA818951_at	Pkm2	40625±2773	59823±17780	1.47	0.75	0.361
M54926_at	Ldha	3265±865	20975±9144	6.42	1.75	0.148

Krebs-cycle						
rc_AA799598_at	Pdha1	2536±193	1487±393	-1.71	-1.16	0.071
Z18878cds_at	Pdha2	79±48	93±66	1.17	0.00	0.876
rc_AA892828_at	Pdhb	4343±713	1945±649	-2.23	-1.30	0.060

D10655_at	Dlat	6328±1563	4950±1480	-1.28	-0.66	0.552
L22294_at	Pdk1	1600±385	154±47	-10.38	-5.45	0.062
U10357_g_at	Pdk2*	1955±379	222±91	-8.80	-4.61	0.038
AF034577_at	Pdk4	39±8	34±9	-1.14	-0.68	0.699
U32314_g_at	Pc*	8758±940	1431±654	-6.12	-3.37	0.004
rc_AI638990_at	Aco2	221±88	6294±3764	28.53	0.46	0.205
rc_AA892314_at	Idh1	3938±237	9800±1925	2.49	1.67	0.055
rc_AA892808_at	Idh3g	2024±83	2702±293	1.34	1.09	0.100
D90401_at	Dlst	161±69	161±64	-1.00	-0.27	0.999
J03621_at	Suclg1*	1796±268	724±170	-2.48	-1.61	0.033
rc_AA800250_at	Sdha	5729±1571	4941±570	-1.16	-0.62	0.675
J04473_at	Fh1	11073±1611	6447±1837	-1.72	-1.07	0.117
rc_AI010480_at	Mdh2*	2727±467	712±293	-3.83	-2.07	0.027

Mitochondrial shuttles						
AB002558_at	Gpd1*	263±20	142±27	-1.86	-1.37	0.016
U83880UTR#1_g_at	Gpd2*	9746±1415	2508±1187	-3.89	-2.04	0.015
AF093773_s_at	Mdh1*	65299±9280	4245±1499	-15.38	-9.03	0.020
rc_AI010480_at	Mdh2*	2727±467	712±293	-3.83	-2.07	0.027
J04171_at	Got1*	7296±439	1341±246	-5.44	-4.09	0.001
M18467_at	Got2*	6162±417	4096±323	-1.50	-1.27	0.016
rc_AI008020_at	Me1	10982±2349	1255±328	-8.75	-5.00	0.051
J05210_at	Acly	6679±824	4700±1741	-1.42	-0.84	0.360
L12016_at	Slc25a1 (Cic)*	2674±375	1128±154	-2.37	-1.70	0.038
AJ223355_at	Slc25a10 (Dic)	185±17	210±47	1.13	0.70	0.646

Beta cell monitoring of circulating glucose concentrations is made possible by the coexpression of GLUT2 glucose transporter and high Km glucokinase [116]; neither of these genes was differentially expressed. However, hexokinase 2, which is expressed at very low levels in functional adult beta cells [117], was more highly expressed in neonatal beta cells (p=0.046). Gene expression of other glycolytic enzymes was unchanged (Table 3) except two genes that were lower in neonatal beta cells: phosphoglycerate kinase (p=0.042) and phosphofructokinase L and M types, which have been implicated in oscillatory insulin release [118], (p=0.024 and 0.006, respectively). Lactate dehydrogenase A and monocarboxylate transporter 1 (also known as Slc16a1), minimally expressed in adult beta cells [117], were present at higher levels in neonatal samples, which however did not reach statistical significance
in part because of variability.

Glucose is metabolized to pyruvate, and pyruvate provides the carbon skeleton to the Krebs cycle. Interestingly, while genes of the pyruvate dehydrogenase enzyme complex were not differentially expressed, pyruvate carboxylase (Pc), the key anaplerotic enzyme in mitochondria, was markedly lower in neonatal beta cells (p=0.004). The anaplerotic mechanism of pyruvate and pyruvate cycling is closely correlated with GSIS in beta cells [82, 83, 119, 120]. It was striking that a number of mitochondrial shuttle enzymes, so key to the efficient generation of ATP and pyruvate cycling in the adult beta cell, had less than 20% of adult expression in neonatal beta cells (Table 3). Shuttle genes with lower neonatal expression included malate dehydrogenase 1 (Mdh1; 15-fold lower, p=0.020) and 2 (Mdh2; p=0.027), aspartate aminotransferase 1 (Got1; p=0.001) and 2 (Got2; p=0.016), glycerol-3-phosphate dehydrogenase 1 (Gpd1; p=0.016) and 2 (Gpd2; p=0.015). Other pyruvate-shuttling genes with neonatally lower expression included Slc25a1 (mitochondrial citrate/isocitrate carrier; p=0.038) and cytosolic malic enzyme (Me1), a critical component of pyruvate-malate shuttle, which had almost ninefold difference in expression but just missed statistical significance (p=0.051).

Notably, gene expression levels of Krebs cycle enzymes were not statistically different between adult and neonatal beta cells, except for succinate-CoA ligase 1 (also known as succinyl-CoA synthetase; Suclg1) and Mdh2, which is also a key enzyme of the pyruvate–malate shuttle (Table 3).

Of the 53 genes present on the microarray encoding subunits of the electron transport chain complexes I–IV and the ATP synthase, ten were differentially lower in neonatal beta cells (p<0.050; Table 4). Only Nd3, the only mitochondrial DNA-encoded electron transport chain gene on the microarray, and Cox8a were more highly expressed in the neonatal beta cells (p=0.029 and 0.042, respectively).

With regard to lipid metabolism genes, fatty acid synthase was significantly upregulated in neonatal beta cells (p=0.009). Carnitine palmitoyl transferase 1 (Cpt1a), which transfers acyl groups from the cytosol to the mitochondria for beta-oxidation, was also upregulated whereas the inner mitochondrial membrane Cpt2 was eightfold lower in neonatal beta cells (p=0.046 and 0.021, respectively). There is a switch in fatty acid transporters with Slc27a5, being four to five times higher in the neonate beta cell

(p=0.032), and Slc27a1, eight times higher in the adult (p=0.001). Expression levels of genes encoding mitochondrial enzymes of beta-oxidation were largely unchanged, except for certain subunits of the hydroxyacyl-CoA dehydrogenase complex (Table 4).

For genes implicated in insulin exocytosis, very few expression differences were found. Synaptotagmin 5, Vamp2 and Stxbp1 had lower expression in neonatal beta cells compared with adult (p=0.002, 0.041, and 0.002, respectively); while synaptotagmin 6 and 8 were higher (p=0.017 and 0.011, respectively). However, genes encoding key SNARE proteins of the exocytotic machinery Snap25 and syntaxin 1A (Stx1a) did not differ. Similarly, those encoding ATP-sensitive K<sup>+</sup>-channel subunits Kir6.2 (also known as Kcnj11), Sur1 (also known as Abcc8), delayed rectifier K<sup>+</sup> channel Kv2.1 (also known as Kcnb1) and voltage-dependent Ca<sup>2+</sup>-channels Cav1.2 (also known as Cacna1c) and Cav1.3 (also known as Cacna1d) did not differ. It is noteworthy that insulin 2 gene expression was almost identical in neonatal and adult beta cells as well.

A simplified diagram of the investigated metabolic pathways implicated in glucose-stimulated insulin secretion is shown in Figure 8.

Table 4. Expression of metabolic genes in beta cells grouped into functional categories (Electron transport chain, Fatty acid synthesis and beta oxidation, Insulin secretion). Genes of the various pathways are listed with the mean $\pm$ SEM, fold change (FC), lower confidence boundary (LCB) and p-value as determined with dChip. Where multiple probe sets were on the microarray, the more stringent *\_at set* is listed; if no*\_at* probe set, the set with highest expression is listed. Microarray signals of adult (n=3) and neonatal (n=4) samples. Those with significance (p<0.050, fold change of 1.5 or greater, LCB of 1.2, and signal mean difference of at least 100) are marked with asterisks.

Probe set	Gene	Adult	Neonate	FC	LCB	p- value
Electron transpor	rt chain	]				
rc_AA945152_s_at	Nd3*	147675± 27942	282517± 10180	1.91	1.45	0.029
D86215_at	Ndufa5	451±179	695±367	1.54	0.20	0.581
rc_AA819547_at	Ndufa6*	6317±223	3014±730	-2.10	-1.49	0.016
rc_AI232012_at	Ndufa8	735±111	5104±2097	6.95	2.22	0.128
rc_AA799525_at	Ndufa9	3202±33	7111±3602	2.22	0.37	0.357

AA799336_at	Ndufab1	636±79	490±142	-1.30	-0.82	0.415
rc_AI112237_at	Ndufb2*	16803±1347	2690±567	-6.25	-4.49	0.004
rc_AA799499_at	Ndufb3	48072±3275	55745±8754	1.16	0.85	0.460
rc_AA859957_at	Ndufb4	7915±813	4165±1298	-1.90	-1.20	0.061
rc_AA893185_at	Ndufb5	10594±2248	4380±2413	-2.42	-1.11	0.119
rc_AI104528_at	Ndufb6	1011±241	515±282	-1.96	-0.87	0.240
rc_AA964320_at	Ndufb8	4030±621	3834±773	-1.05	-0.70	0.851
rc_AI171542_at	Ndufb9*	15754±2020	1912±839	-8.24	-4.53	0.011
rc_AA893690_at	Ndufb11	221±102	134±83	-1.64	-0.34	0.545
rc_AA891171_s_at	Ndufc2	17267±3945	21008±3859	1.22	0.75	0.529
AA686031_at	Ndufs1	87±14	444±296	5.12	0.00	0.314
rc_AI013297_at	Ndufs4	327±54	466±50	1.43	1.05	0.122
rc_AI009390_at	Ndufs5b*	5230±28	699±67	-7.48	-6.46	0.000
rc_AA875268_at	Ndufs7*	3924±753	944±255	-4.16	-2.45	0.046
AA685112_at	Ndufs8*	254±9	91±25	-2.80	-1.92	0.004
M22756_at	Ndufv2	3908±421	6436±3000	1.65	0.38	0.463
AB000098_at	Ndufv3l	57±14	276±204	4.82	0.00	0.363
rc_AA800250_at	Sdha	5729±1571	4941±570	-1.16	-0.62	0.675
rc_AI235358_at	Uqcrc2	7374±380	11458±3700	1.55	0.73	0.351
M24542cds_at	Uqcrfs1	256±47	212±107	-1.21	-0.60	0.725
rc_AA799474_at	Cyc1	16248±2825	9843±1747	-1.65	-1.08	0.137
K00750ex#2-3_at	Cycs	2679±358	3778±1206	1.41	0.66	0.438
rc_AA818226_s_at	Cox4i1	34187±6021	20453±2045	-1.67	-1.15	0.139
rc_H31232_at	Cox4i2	4291±1107	8284±2255	1.93	0.97	0.183
rc_AA800179_at	Cox4nb	163±50	232±77	1.42	0.59	0.488
X15030_at	Cox5a*	3592±433	1042±562	-3.45	-1.75	0.016
rc_AI229620_s_at	Cox5b	7364±563	4516±2637	-1.63	-0.82	0.363
X72757_at	Сохба1	400±73	545±119	1.36	0.81	0.351
X72758mRNA_at	Сохба2	38±17	317±226	8.43	0.00	0.304
M27467_at	Сохбс	1004±228	18359±8029	18.29	5.00	0.119
M20183_at	Сохбс1	461±30	614±106	1.33	0.94	0.248
rc_AA819708_s_at	Cox7a2	4138±522	7368±1086	1.78	1.27	0.052
rc_AI232307_at	Cox7a2l	40545±1891	22020±6643	-1.84	-1.22	0.064
rc_AA866477_at	Cox7b	2433±510	1903±739	-1.28	-0.67	0.581
rc_AI102505_at	Cox8a*	6556±23	15336±2576	2.34	1.69	0.042
X64827cds_s_at	Cox8h	1009±165	474±263	-2.13	-1.03	0.149
X56133_at	Atp5a1	2430±268	2758±855	1.14	0.55	0.735
rc_AI105050_at	Atp5b	16597±949	12260±3164	-1.35	-0.94	0.268
L19927_at	Atp5c1	3967±1277	4230±1983	1.07	0.23	0.916
U00926_at	Atp5d	2053±169	1333±275	-1.54	-1.11	0.079
rc_AI171844_at	Atp5e	869±165	1405±526	1.62	0.60	0.392
rc_AA799778_at	Atp5f1	14331±1989	13459±3682	-1.06	-0.68	0.844
D13123_s_at	Atp5g1*	13527±1104	3075±1152	-4.40	-2.66	0.001

D13124_s_at	Atp5g2*	8443±714	3732±1145	-2.26	-1.46	0.019
D13120_s_at	Atp5h	282±170	132±78	-2.14	-0.02	0.484
X54510_at	Atp5j	1035±311	298±168	-3.47	-1.35	0.124
D13127_at	Atp5o	112±14	7147±4316	63.74	0.43	0.202
rc_AA799829_at	Atp5s*	269±3	114±44	-2.36	-1.45	0.038
X03894_at	Ucp1	77±22	137±78	1.77	0.10	0.510
AB010743_at	Ucp2	16699±1068	14011±1692	-1.19	-0.96	0.240
AF035943_at	<i>Ucp3</i>	389±33	810±581	2.08	0.00	0.521
D12770_s_at	Slc25a4 (Ant1)	10444±532	10931±2050	1.05	0.72	0.831
D12771_s_at	Slc25a5 (Ant2)	10987±2144	4415±1115	-2.49	-1.48	0.071

Fatty acid synthesis and beta-oxidation						
J03808_at	Acaca	169±73	410±184	2.42	0.58	0.294
X13527cds_s_at	Fasn*	788±77	1487±137	1.89	1.51	0.009
L07736_at	Cpt1a*	819±84	3961±962	4.83	2.84	0.046
D43623_at	Cpt1b	2622±255	2344±509	-1.12	-0.79	0.649
J05470_at	Cpt2*	1583±241	185±73	-8.58	-4.79	0.021
rc_AA800120_at	Slc25a20 (Cac)	1009±305	2506±1369	2.48	0.25	0.358
X05341_at	Acaa2	4664±627	4737±1231	1.02	0.56	0.960
rc_AA945583_at	Hsd17b10 (Hadh2)*	2230±121	852±214	-2.62	-1.83	0.003
D16478_at	Hadha	7288±1791	18748±7502	2.57	0.85	0.225
D16479_at	Hadhb*	9390±1452	1958±1035	-4.80	-2.39	0.015
rc_AA891362_at	Hadh (Hadhsc)	569±97	249±117	-2.29	-1.18	0.088
X15958_at	Echs1	2378±495	697±151	-3.41	-2.04	0.066
D00569_g_at	Decr1	12903±1860	6058±2040	-2.13	-1.27	0.056
U89529_at	Slc27a1*	1303±110	166±81	-7.86	-4.27	0.001
D85100_at	Slc27a2	326±18	1563±449	4.79	2.52	0.070
rc_H31236_at	Slc27a5*	66±18	312±67	4.69	2.65	0.032

Insulin release						
M25584_at	Ins1/Ins2	2076±71	4709±1200	2.27	1.31	0.116
D86039_at	Kcnj11 (Kir6.2)	41452±9132	38550±5092	-1.08	-0.66	0.798
L40624_at	Abcc8 (Sur1)	3975±944	2399±560	-1.66	-0.92	0.237
AF051526_at	Cacna1a (Cav2.1)	122±36	121±53	-1.01	-0.43	0.987
AF055477_at	Cacna1b (Cav2.2)	1414±280	1230±267	-1.15	-0.70	0.656
M59786_at	Cacna1c (Cav1.2)	1290±611	337±107	-3.83	-0.82	0.257
rc_AI639212_at	Cacna1d	474±40	1331±731	2.81	0.27	0.325

	(Cav1.3)					
M32867_at	Kcna4 (Kv1.4)	582±180	447±200	-1.30	-0.53	0.637
X76723_at	Kcnab3 (Kvbeta3)	38±5	262±242	6.86	0.00	0.423
X16476cds_at	Kcnb1 (Kv2.1)	54±3	43±8	-1.25	-0.93	0.304
rc_AI639467_at	Syt1	292±18	1177±507	4.04	1.18	0.179
M64488_at	Syt2	82±24	207±74	2.52	0.97	0.191
D28512_at	Syt3	703±111	782±67	1.11	0.84	0.582
U14398_at	Syt4	61±25	48±8	-1.28	-0.41	0.653
U26402_at	Syt5*	2119±83	1257±109	-1.69	-1.45	0.002
U20105_at	Syt6*	96±31	298±48	3.10	1.84	0.017
U20106_at	Syt7	130±68	282±109	2.16	0.67	0.295
U20110cds_at	Syt8*	38±12	511±87	13.42	7.82	0.011
U20108_at	Syt9	98±18	299±206	3.06	0.00	0.402
U85513_at	Syt10	61±20	134±84	2.22	0.00	0.448
AF000423_at	Syt11	276±86	303±88	1.10	0.51	0.835
U71294_at	Syt12	12±4	678±527	57.75	0.00	0.295
X06889cds_at	Rab3a	56±16	79±43	1.41	0.14	0.643
D17352_at	Rab27a	171±8	985±321	5.77	2.67	0.085
D10392_i_at	Stx1a	4668±824	6568±1853	1.41	0.72	0.401
M24105_at	Vamp2*	1520±43	924±179	-1.65	-1.24	0.041
AB003991_at	Snap25	119±58	116±79	-1.02	-0.18	0.978
rc_AI102079_at	Stxbp1* (Munc18-1)	40384±3492	7184±2219	-5.62	-3.62	0.002
U20283_at	Stxbp2 (Munc18-2)	82±29	116±52	1.42	0.34	0.597
U92072_at	Stxbp5 (Tomosyn)	285±71	74±57	-3.86	-1.44	0.078
rc_AI176308_at	Cdc42	10045±262	12191±2976	1.21	0.73	0.524

#### Confirmation of microarray data with qPCR

Differential expression seen in microarray data (Figure 8) was confirmed with qPCR on RNA from isolated neonatal P2, P7 and adult islets. The percentage of beta cells/islets did not differ significantly among P2, P21 and adult islets; only at P11 was it significantly lower (20%) than adult (Table 5). Even so, neonatal islets expressed only 10–20% of adult levels of the metabolic genes: Pc, Me1, Mdh1, Got1, Gpd2 and Cpt2.



Figure 8. Metabolic pathways involved in glucose-stimulated insulin secretion in beta cells. Based on dChip analysis of microarray data of enriched beta cell samples from neonatal versus adult samples, genes with lower expression in the neonates (adult/neonatal  $\leq$ -1.2) are in blue and those with higher expression in neonates (neonatal/adult  $\geq$ 1.2) are in red; unchanged in black. Abbreviations: GPD1 and 2, cytosolic and mitochondrial glycerol-3-phosphate dehydrogenase; MDH1 and 2, cytosolic and mitochondrial malate dehydrogenase; GOT1 and 2, cytosolic and mitochondrial glutamate oxalacetate transaminase (also known as aspartate aminotransferase); PC, pyruvate carboxylase; PDH, pyruvate dehydrogenase; PK, pyruvate kinase; ME1, cytosolic malic enzyme; CPT1 and 2, carnitine palmitoyltransferase; ACLY, ATP citrate lyase; FASN, fatty acid synthase; OAA, oxalacetic acid;  $\alpha$ KG,  $\alpha$ -ketoglutarate; Glu, glutamate; Asp, aspartate.

**Table 5. Beta cell composition of islets at postnatal day P1 or P2, P11, P21 and adult time points.** Immunfluorescently stained pancreas sections using both anti-insulin and a cocktail of anti-non beta endocrine hormone antibodies were quantitated for the proportion of the islet that was insulin positive. All islets/clusters greater than 35 mm diameter corresponding to the islet size obtained by handpicking after islet isolation were included. \* p<0.05 compared to adult.

Age	Number of animals (total islets)	% insulin-positive cells (mean±SEM)
P1-2	5 (107)	64±2
P11	3 (68)	55±4 *
P21	3 (56)	58±3
Adult	3 (55)	70±4

In contrast, Cpt1 levels at P2 did not differ from adult but at P7 decreased to 45% of adult (Figure 9). Metabolic genes encoding pyruvate kinase (PK) and glycerol-3-antibody does not distinguish between PK muscle isoform (PKM) and PK liver and red blood cell isoform (PKLR) isoforms. Both enzymes had low-intensity staining in P2 islets but had strong staining in adult islets (Figure 10). At P7, PK protein was intermediate between neonatal and adult islets. In contrast GPD2, with little to no staining at birth, was clearly produced at P7 with similar pattern and intensity as adult islets.



Figure 9. QPCR confirmation of selected metabolic genes. The differential expression of selected metabolic genes was confirmed by quantitative PCR in islets isolated from neonatal P2 (black bars, n=4 samples of islets pooled from a litter) and P7 rats (grey bars, n=3 samples of islets pooled from a litter); data are expressed relative to isolated adult islets (dotted line, n=5). One-way ANOVA with Tukey post hoc analysis. \*\* p < 0.01; \*\*\* p < 0.001; N.S.= not significant.



**Figure 10. Immunostaining of pyruvate kinase (PK) and mitochondrial glycerol-3-phosphate dehydrogenase (GPD2).** By immunostaining, the protein levels of PK (top panels, VIP as chromagen) and GPD2 (bottom panels, insulin-red, GPD2-green, overlap yellow) reflect the mRNA expression through the neonatal time period.

To study the development of the characteristic metabolic profile of adult beta cells, we examined expression of these genes over the first postnatal month (Figure 11). Several different expression patterns were found, perhaps reflecting different regulation. Me1 and Pc had low expression even at P7 but with sharp increases at P9; Me1 had another sharp increase at P28 while Pc gradually increased from P9 onwards (Figure 11a). In contrast, Mdh1, Got1 and Gpd2 (Figure 11b) had stable low expression with a moderate increase only at P28. While Cpt2 expression followed a pattern similar to that of Mdh1, Got1 and Gpd2, Cpt1 decreased further to 20% of adult by P9 (Figure 11c). For Pk (primers selective for Plkr) there was a sharp increase at P9, reaching levels that were highly variable but consistently high as or higher than adult through P28 (Figure 11d).



Figure 11. Time course of expression of selected metabolic genes over the first postnatal month by quantitative real time PCR. The metabolic enzymes have different patterns of expression through the first postnatal month. All but Cpt1 express at 20% or less than adult levels during the first week. Data expressed relative to pooled isolated adult islets (n=5). Student's t-test for comparison of expression between weeks. \* p <0.05, \*\* p <0.01, \*\*\* p <0.001. ANOVA for repeated measures throughout the time course, p <0.001 in all comparisons, except for pyruvate kinase. (a) pyruvate carboxylase ( $\blacklozenge$ ); malic enzyme 1 ( $\circ$ , cytosolic).

(b) malate dehydrogenase 1 ( $\blacksquare$ , cytosolic); glutamate oxalacetate transaminase 1 ( $\Delta$ , cytosolic); glycerol phosphate dehydrogenase 2 ( $\bullet$ , mitochondrial).

(c) carnitine palmitoyltransferase 1 ( $\circ$ ); carnitine palmitoyltransferase 2 ( $\blacktriangle$ ).

(d) pyruvate kinase ( $\circ$ , Pklr isoform).

## Assessment of neonatal beta cell maturation

#### Expression of beta cell transcription factors during the postnatal period

The reduced expression of many key beta cell genes in neonatal beta cells suggests that regulated expression of transcription factors may drive beta cell maturation. To examine the expression of these factors, quantitative RT-PCR was performed on neonatal islets isolated over the first postnatal month. Key beta cell transcription factors (Figure 12a) had very low (3–12%) expression at P2, with sharp increases between P7 and P9. By P7 both Pdx1 and NeuroD1 mRNA levels no longer differed from adult levels and from P9 to P13 were transiently higher than adult (Pdx1 was increased in all samples but did not reach significance). Nkx6-1 mRNA was expressed at levels lower

than adult only through P7. By contrast, MafA expression increased from 7% at P7 to 43% of adult at P9 but remained significantly lower than adult until P28. We further explored the role of Pdx1 and MafA in functional maturation because both are major regulators of insulin gene expression. MafA expression during the neonatal period seemed independent of Pdx1 expression. Interestingly, the pattern of insulin mRNA mirrored more closely that of MafA than either Pdx1 or NeuroD1 (Figure 12a, b).



## Figure 12. Expression pattern of beta cell transcription factors during the first postnatal month.

(a) Beta cell transcription factors NeuroD1 ( $\bullet$ ), Pdx1 ( $\circ$ ), MafA ( $\blacktriangle$ ), Nkx6-1 ( $\diamond$ ).

(b) Other key genes: Glp1r ( $\blacklozenge$ ), Pc ( $\Box$ ), Pcsk1 ( $\Delta$ ), insulin ( $\bullet$ ), Glut2 ( $\blacksquare$ ) and Gck ( $\circ$ ) mRNA show different patterns of expression over the neonatal period as measured by quantitative RT-PCR. Data expressed as fold change with respect to adult using S25 as internal control gene. Mean ± SEM, n=4–6 isolated samples per age, each pooled from three to ten animals.

(c) By western blot, MafA protein; and

(d) Pdx1 protein are low at birth (P2). MafA increases at P11 but is still low compared with adult. Pdx1 increased at P11 and decreased in adult islets in a pattern similar to that of mRNA levels at the same ages. Representative gels of three independent samples. Ad, adult

MafA protein levels showed age-dependent increases. In western blots, MafA protein (Figure 12c) reflected the RNA levels with very low levels in P2 islets and increases in P11. Pdx1 protein, by western blot (Figure 12d) showed comparable levels at P11 and adult, whereas mRNA levels tended to be higher at P11 (Figure 12a). Putative MafA targets (insulin, Glut2, Gck, Glp1r and Pcsk1) had an expression pattern similar to that of MafA, with very low expression at P2, and significant increases from P7 to P9; however, unlike MafA, these genes reached adult mRNA levels by P28 (Figure 12b).

Previous quantification of the beta cell proportion showed isolated neonatal islets did not significantly differ from adult in % beta cell (Table 5). Thus the changes in gene expression are likely to be due to changes in phenotype rather than proportion of beta cells. The findings that Pdx1 expression reached adult levels already by P7 whereas MafA expression remained significantly lower than adult even through P21 suggest MafA as the factor that drives final maturation of beta cell function and enhances glucose-stimulated insulin secretion.

#### Adenoviral overexpression of Pdx1 and MafA in P2 islets

To determine the effect of Pdx1 and MafA on the maturation of the neonatal beta cells more directly, we overexpressed each separately using adenoviruses in P2 islets and assessed expression of putative target genes, and glucose-responsive insulin secretion.

Pdx1 overexpression achieved a 2.4-fold increase in mRNA (Figure 13a), with significant increases in MafA, NeuroD1 and Gck mRNA, but no change in Nkx6.1, cMaf, MafB, Glp1r, Glut2, Ins2, preproinsulin or pyruvate carboxylase mRNA. Insulin secretion was significantly increased at both 2.8 and 16.8 mmol/l glucose (Figure 14a) in AdPdx1-infected cells compared with AdGFP controls. However, there was no increase in fold change because the responses to low and high glucose did not differ (Figure 14b). This lack of glucose responsiveness was seen even though insulin content significantly increased after Pdx1 overexpression (Figure 14c).

MafA overexpression was adjusted to obtain a modest 50% increase of MafA levels at 72 h compared with control AdGFP-infected cells; this is comparable to the level seen in P9-P28 islets. This change was due to increased exogenous MafA as the

amount of PCR product for 3' UTR message (endogenous gene, see Methods) was unchanged (Figure 13b). With this overexpression, transcription of NeuroD1, Nkx6.1 and Gck were significantly upregulated, as was Glp1r. However, Ins2, Pdx1, Glut2, various metabolic genes and channels were not significantly changed. There was no change in MafB, whereas cMaf was significantly reduced.



Figure 13. Effect of adenoviral-mediated increase of Pdx1 (a) and MafA (b) on genes important for beta cell function. After 72 h culture adenoviral-mediated overexpression of Pdx1 or MafA in postnatal day P2 islets had significant increases of total Pdx1 mRNA (a) and total MafA mRNA (b). Overexpression of Pdx1 upregulated MafA, NeuroD1 and Gck whereas overexpression of MafA had upregulated NeuroD1, Nkx6.1, Gck and Glp1r. Quantitative RT-PCR; expression compared to AdGFP infected cells (equal to 1, dotted line). Mean  $\pm$  SEM, n=4–6 independent experiments; \*p<0.05.

Importantly, MafA overexpression induced glucose stimulated insulin secretion. In static incubations AdMafA-infected cells significantly decreased basal insulin secretion at 2.8 mmol/l glucose while significantly increasing insulin secretion in 16.8 mmol/l glucose compared with AdGFP cells (Figure 14a). Insulin secretion increased fourfold from low to high glucose (Figure 14b), a change comparable to the fivefold increase of cultured control AdGFP-infected adult cells. It is striking that adult glucose responsiveness was nearly achieved in MafA-infected P2 cells that still had lower insulin expression (Figures 12b, 13b) and content (Figure 14c) than adult cells treated

and cultured under the same conditions. Considering that only about 50% of the cells were infected, the glucose responsiveness may be underestimated in these experiments. It is also important to note that these Ad-infected P2 isolated islets were cultured for 5 days and thus cannot be compared with freshly isolated P2 islets.



Figure 14. Insulin secretion and insulin content after AdPdx1, AdMafA and AdGFP infection.

(a) Black bars represent low glucose (2.6 mM), white bars represent high glucose (16.8 mM) conditions. Insulin secretion in response to 16.8 mM glucose increased in both AdPdx1 and AdMafA infected P2 cells compared with AdGFP infected control cells after 5 days culture. However, insulin secretion from AdMafA infected cells in 2.6 mM glucose significantly decreased while that from AdPdx1 increased almost as much as with high glucose. \*p<0.05 in marked comparisons.

(b) Insulin secretion expressed as fold change in response to glucose stimulation reflects the glucose responsiveness of the cultured cells. As previously shown [87, 95], neonatal (P2) islets have little glucose responsiveness when compared with adult islets similarly cultured. Only AdMafA increased the glucose responsiveness of the P2 cells; the uninfected, AdGFP and AdPdx1 infected cells had little to no response to the increased glucose concentration.

(c) There was no change in insulin content (pg/ng DNA) in AdMafA infected P2 islets and cultured control islets (untreated or AdGFP infected), but insulin content was significantly higher in AdPdx1 compared with cultured uninfected cells. Mean  $\pm$  SEM; n=4 independent experiments in duplicate; C, control. \*p<0.05 compared with untreated, control cultured P2 cells.

## Characterization of the role of MafA in regulating beta cell function

As both neonatal and dysfunctional adult beta cells have impaired glucose-responsive insulin secretion and decreased expression of functionally important genes, we hypothesized that low levels of MafA may be the culprit. In order to unequivocally establish the role of MafA in the mature beta cell function, we decreased functional MafA protein levels by adenovirus-mediated dominant-negative MafA (DN-MafA).



**Figure 15. AdGFP infected islet cell aggregates after different culture times.** Isolated, handpicked Sprague-Dawley rat islets were cultured over-night and subsequently dispersed to facilitate optimal adenovirus infection. Islet cells progressively reaggregated on low attachment plates by 72 hours. A significant expression of GFP from the transduced gene became visible by 48 hours. Upper row represents islet aggregates studied by light microscopy at 24, 48, and 72 hours after dispersion; lower row displays respective images taken with fluorescent microscopy. Induction of DN-MafA protein was confirmed by Western blot analysis of islet cell aggregates 48 hours after infection with AdDN-MafA (Figure 16). This observation suggests that MafA expression itself is down-regulated in an autoregulatory process.

#### DN-MafA down-regulates expression of endogenous MafA and targets

The function of transcriptional factor MafA was inhibited in adult, mature rat beta cells by expressing DN-MafA. After the dispersed islets were infected with AdDN-MafA or the control AdGFP vector, the cells reaggregated on hydrophobic plates (Figure 15). By 72 hours the aggregates looked compact and similar to intact islets except for their irregular shapes. No central necrosis was observed in the aggregates. The GFP signal became detectable under UV light 48 hours after infection and showed homogeneous distribution through the islet cell aggregates, suggesting an almost 100% infection rate (Figure 15).



**Figure 16. A Western blot analysis of endogenous MafA protein levels after Adeno-GFP or Adeno-DN-MafA infection in islet cell aggregates**. Protein extracts (20µg) from islet cell aggregates, cultured for 48 hours after Adenovirus infection, were resolved in 10% SDS-PAGE, transferred to nitrocellulose membrane, and immunoblotted with an anti-MafA, ant-HSV and anti-GFP antibody. The anti-MafA antibody is directed against the N-terminal region of MafA and was used to detect the native, endogenous MafA band at 49 kDa. The HSV-tagged DN-MafA protein, lacking the N-terminal domain of the transcription factor, was detected with the anti-HSV antibody, as a faster migrating band at 25 kDa, only in cells infected with AdDN-MafA. The endogenous MafA protein is detectable much weaker (80% less) in the presence of DN-MafA than in control AdGFP-infected islet cells. Anti-GFP immunoblotting was used as loading controls. Representative immunoblots are shown from at least three independent experiments.

In AdDN-MafA infected islet cells expression of some putative MafA target genes were down regulated compared to AdGFP-infected controls measured by qPCR (Figure 17). As with MafA protein, endogenous MafA mRNA level became progressively down-regulated after DN-MafA expression (p<0.001 at 72 hours, compared to AdGFP controls). Insulin message was unchanged, which was not surprising considering the abundance and long half-life of the insulin mRNA. However, insulin pre-mRNA level, which reflects acute changes of insulin gene

transcription [121] were significantly lower as expected in the absence of functional MafA. In addition, marked reductions in the mRNA of other putative targets Glp1r, pyruvate carboxylase (Pc) and prohormone convertase 1 (Pcsk1) were observed (p<0.001 for each gene at 72 hours compared to AdGFP controls). Importantly to this being a specific effect, glucagon expression was unchanged and lactate dehydrogenase (Ldh) mRNA was significantly elevated (p<0.01) after 72 hours of infection with AdDN-MafA (Figure 17). Ldh is usually present at very low or undetectable levels in mature beta cells [117], and its up-regulation may suggest a loss of beta-cell phenotype.



Figure 17. Effect of DN-MafA infection on genes important for beta cell function after various times in culture. DN-MafA very efficiently down-regulates expression of MafA and its target genes in rat islets, whereas glucagon expression is not affected. Interestingly LDH is up-regulated, suggesting a loss of beta cell phenotype. Quantitative real-time PCR analysis after 24, 36, 48 and 72 h of infection with AdDN-MafA. Expression is compared to AdGFP infected islets from the same animals (equal to 1, dashed line). Mean  $\pm$  SEM, n=4–6 independent experiments; \*\*p<0.01, \*\*\*p<0.001.

Several metabolic genes important for the specialized beta cell phenotype were down-regulated already 48 hours after infection with AdDN-MafA, including glucokinase (Gck) and the components of the mitochondrial membrane shuttles: malic enzyme (Me1), malate dehydrogenase (Mdh1), glutamate oxalacetate transaminase (Got1) and glycerol-3P-dehydrogenase (Gpd2) (Figure 18). Additionally, the ATP-sensitive  $K^+$  channel subunit Kir6.2 and Ca-channel Cav2.1, both implicated in insulin secretion, were down-regulated by 48 hours after AdDN-MafA infection (Figure 18).



Figure 18. Effect of DN-MafA infection on genes implicated in glucose-stimulated insulin secretion, after various times in culture. DN-MafA down-regulates the expression of several metabolic genes, including genes of the mitochondrial membrane shuttles, as well as ion channels indispensable for the insulin secretory process. Quantitative real-time PCR analysis after 24, 36, 48 and 72 h of infection with AdDN-MafA. Expression is compared to AdGFP infected islets from the same animals (equal to 1, dashed line). Mean  $\pm$  SEM, n=4–6 independent experiments; \*\*p<0.01, \*\*\*p<0.001.

Since many beta cell important genes were down-regulated coincident with the inhibition of MafA transcriptional activation, we determined the expression level of the other key beta cell transcription factors, Pdx1 and NeuroD1, as well as MafB, which is known to be alpha cell specific in the adult rat pancreas. Surprisingly, by 24 hrs after infection with AdDN-MafA, Pdx1 and NeuroD1 mRNAs were down-regulated, reaching around 20% of control by 36 hrs (Figure 19). These data suggest strong

feedback regulation between MafA, Pdx1 and NeuroD1 since only MafA function was perturbed by the DN-MafA. However, DN-MafA also inactivates MafB as seen by the 50% decrease in MafB mRNA. Decreased expression of the three important transcription factors MafA, Pdx1 and NeuroD1 could explain the loss of beta-cell phenotype with AdDN-MafA infection.



Figure 19. Effect of DN-MafA infection on beta cell important transcription factors, after various times in culture. With the inhibition of MafA function, MafA expression is down-regulated, and coincidently, the expression of Pdx1 and NeuroD1 is also diminishing, suggesting a feedback regulation between MafA, Pdx1 and NeuroD1. Quantitative real-time PCR analysis after 24, 36, 48 and 72 h of infection with AdDN-MafA. Expression is compared to AdGFP infected islets from the same animals (equal to 1, dashed line). Mean  $\pm$  SEM, n=4–6 independent experiments; \*\*p<0.01, \*\*\*p<0.001.

#### DN-MafA blunts glucose-stimulated insulin secretion (GSIS) in adult rat islets

Insulin secretion from untreated control samples, AdGFP infected and AdDN-MafA infected aggregates were compared after 24, 36, 48 and 72 hours of infection. In static incubations at low (2.8 mM) and high (16.7 mM) glucose concentrations, aggregates infected with AdGFP, the control adenovirus, secreted approximately 50% less insulin at high glucose stimulus than the uninfected aggregates, thus showing that adenovirus infection itself dampened insulin secretion (Figure 20). Even so, the expression of DN-MafA further blunted GSIS from 36 hours onwards in a time-dependent manner

(AdGFP versus AdDN-MafA infection at high glucose, p<0.001). By 72 hours, when important beta cell gene mRNAs were expressed at levels 20-40% of controls, GSIS was lost (Figure 20). The DN-MafA-treated islet cells also had elevated insulin release at basal, non-stimulatory conditions (approximately 3-fold increase at 72 hours, 1.43 vs 4.44 ng/mg insulin, AdGFP vs AdDN-MafA-infected, respectively). Together the increased basal insulin release and the blunted insulin secretion in response to high glucose stimulus suggest that beta cells become dysfunctional with the loss of functional MafA.



Figure 20. Glucose-stimulated insulin secretion from islet cell aggregates after various time in culture, either untreated or infected with AdGFP or AdDN-MafA. Static incubations at low glucose (2.8 mM, black bars) and high glucose (16.7 mM, grey bars) revealed that adenovirus infection itself inhibits insulin secretion, but DN-MafA further blunts GSIS in a time-dependent manner (marked with dashed rectangles). By 72 hours, when the expression of the important beta cell genes are down to 20-40% of controls, glucose-stimulated insulin secretion is fully inhibited. Mean  $\pm$  SEM of 3 experiments, done in duplicate for each time point. P values represent comparison between AdGFP and AdDN-MafA infected islet aggregates; \*\*\* p<0.001.

## Overexpression of NeuroD1 or Pdx1 could not rescue GSIS from AdDN-MafA treated islets

Significant down-regulation of NeuroD1 and Pdx1 upon AdDN-MafA infection may

contribute to the loss of glucose responsiveness. To explore this possibility, additional adenoviruses (AdNeuroD1 and AdPdx1) were used to over-express transcription factors NeuroD1 and Pdx1 in AdDN-MafA infected islets. The adenoviral infections were carefully titrated to reconstitute normal levels of Pdx1 and NeuroD1 expression based on qPCR analysis. Glucose-stimulated insulin secretion at 72 hours after infection demonstrated that with AdNeuroD1 or AdPdx1 alone, islets were glucose responsive similarly to control AdGFP infected islets (Figure 21). However, even co-infection with AdNeuroD1 or AdPdx1 could not rescue GSIS in DN-MafA expressing islets even though NeuroD1 and Pdx1 mRNAs were reconstituted to normal levels as measured in AdGFP islets (Figure 21).



Figure 21. Glucose-stimulated insulin secretion from islet cell aggregates after infection with AdGFP, AdNeuroD1, AdPdx1, or AdDN-MafA alone, and in combination. Static incubations after 72 hours of culture at low glucose (2.8 mM, black bars) and high glucose (16.7 mM, grey bars) revealed that dominant-negative MafA resulted in complete inhibition of glucose-stimulated insulin secretion that could not be rescued by overexpression of Pdx1 or NeuroD1. Mean  $\pm$  SEM of 3 experiments, done in duplicate for each condition. P values represents comparison between insulin release at high glucose from AdNeuroD1 alone vs AdNeuroD1 plus AdDN-MafA co-infected islet aggregates; \*\*\* p<0.001.

The total insulin content of islet aggregates after 72 hours in culture were approximately the same for untreated islets and adenovirally infected islets, irrespective of the over-expressed genes (Figure 22). The DN-MafA expressing, glucose-

unresponsive islets had normal insulin stores, yet had decreased expression of key betacell metabolic genes and blunted GSIS, so we conclude that the stimulus-secretion coupling mechanism becomes dysfunctional with the inhibition of MafA function.



Figure 22. Insulin content of islet cell aggregates after various adenovirus infections. Total insulin content of beta cells are not affected by DN-MafA or overexpression of NeuroD1 and Pdx1 during the 72 hour culture period. Insulin content is expressed as ng/ ng DNA. Mean  $\pm$  SEM of 3 experiments, done in duplicate for each condition. P values are not significant in any comparison.

As the beta cells lacking functional MafA have normal insulin stores, we wondered if they could respond to other insulin secretagogues. The responsiveness of the DN-MafA infected islets to amino acids and depolarizing agent stimuli was tested in a separate set of experiments 72 hours after AdDN-MafA infection (Figure 23). As before, the islet cell aggregates displayed blunted insulin secretory response to high glucose. Similarly, stimulation with 10 mM leucine + 4 mM glutamine was unable to elicit insulin secretion. However, 10 mM arginine, and to a lesser extent 30 mM KCl, at low glucose (2.8 mM), stimulated insulin secretion from AdDN-MafA infected islets (p<0.001 compared to glucose stimulated insulin secretion) (Figure 23).



Figure 23. Insulin secretion from AdDN-MafA infected islet cell aggregates in response to different secretagogues (16.7 mM glucose, 10 mM leucine + 4 mM glutamine, 10 mM arginine and 30 mM KCl), after 72 hours in culture. Non-glucose secretagogues were used in the presence of low glucose concentration. Only depolarizing agents arginine and KCl elicit insulin secretion from DN-MafA treated cells. Mean  $\pm$  SEM of 3 experiments, done in duplicate for each time point. P values represent comparison between static incubations with arginine vs other secretagogues; \*\* p<0.01; \*\*\* p<0.001.

### Characterization of the role of MafA in dysfunctional beta cells

# Dysfunctional GK rat islets express less insulin and MafA mRNA but can be partially rescued

Since the loss of MafA led to dysfunctional beta cells, we wondered if over-expression of MafA could rescue dysfunctional beta cells that had low MafA expression and impaired GSIS. We identified the GK rat model as a possible model for this experiment since it is considered as a "prototype" for the diseased human beta cell with poor insulin secretory response [122] and their dysfunctional phenotype remains even after several days of culture [123]. At 16 weeks age, female GK rats, which were not overtly diabetic compared to Wistar-Kyoto (WKY) controls, had higher random blood glucose values and lower body weights (136±5 vs 111±3 mg/dl, p=0.003; and 229±4 vs 276±3 gramm, p<0.001; GK vs WKY, respectively). The GK rats have poor glucose tolerance and insulin secretion by IPGTT compared to WKY controls (Figure 24).



Figure 24. Intraperitoneal glucose tolerance tests (IPGTT) in GK and WKY control rats. Rats were fasted overnight, then injected intraperitoneally with 10% glucose solution at a dose of 2 g/kg body weight. Blood glucose readings were performed from the tail vein at 0, 30, 60, 90 and 120 minutes post injection. Measurements revealed that GK animals have normal fasting blood glucose, but display a diabetic post-challenge curve. N=5 in each group.

By quantitative real-time PCR (Figure 25) isolated GK islets had decreased insulin and MafA mRNA levels compared to WKY islets (41%, p<0.001 and 57%, p=0.021, respectively), unchanged NeuroD1 and Pdx1 mRNA levels and 51% higher glucagon expression in the GK islets (p=0.022).

Next, adenovirus mediated MafA overexpression was used to reconstitute MafA levels in dysfunctional GK rat islets. MafA over-expression ameliorated glucose-stimulated insulin secretion from these dysfunctional islets. Uninfected GK islet cell aggregates after 3 days of culture responded only modestly to the glucose stimulus control whereas WKY islet cell aggregates elicited a robust insulin secretory response (p<0.001, Figure 26).



Figure 25. Expression levels of important beta cell transcription factors, insulin and glucagon in dysfunctional GK islets compared to control WKY islets. Isolated GK islets have decreased insulin and MafA mRNA levels compared to WKY islets, whereas NeuroD1 and Pdx1 levels are similar, and glucagon expression is significantly higher. Quantitative real-time PCR, data expressed as fold change with respect to WKY (marked as 1, dashed line) using S25 as internal control gene. Mean  $\pm$  SEM, n=3 isolated samples. P values represent comparison between expression levels of GK and WKY islets; \* p<0.05; \*\*\* p<0.001.

Comparing the insulin release in response to high glucose of AdGFP infected and uninfected islets of both strains, we again found that adenoviral infection impaired somewhat the insulin response. When MafA over-expression was titrated carefully to obtain near physiological MafA levels in GK islets, comparable to that of the WKY islets, glucose responsiveness of GK islets was enhanced compared to AdGFP infected GK controls (p<0.001). In AdMafA-infected GK islets the fold change of insulin secretion between low and high glucose stimulus was 8.1, compared to the 5.6 fold change in uninfected GK islets, which corresponds to a 43% increase. MafA over-expression seemed to influence primarily the amount of insulin released at basal non-stimulatory conditions (at 2.8 mM glucose AdMAfA infected: 1.8 ng/ml insulin; AdGFP infected: 3.3 ng/ml insulin; uninfected GK islets: 2.8 ng/ml insulin at low glucose). WKY control untreated islets secreted similarly low 1.1 ng/ml insulin during low glucose incubations. Thus, MafA reconstitution seems to ameliorate the dysfunctional beta cell phenotype of the GK rat islets.



Figure 26. Effect of MafA over-expression on glucose-stimulated insulin secretion from WKY and GK islet cell aggregates. WKY and GK islets were infected with AdMafA, AdGFP, or remained untreated. Static incubations after 72 hours of culture at low glucose (2.8 mM, black bars) and high glucose (16.7 mM, grey bars) revealed that MafA over-expression in GK islets improves the fold change of insulin release (8.1x), compared to control (5.6x) GK islets. As observed before, adenovirus infection itself inhibits insulin secretion compared to control islet aggregates. Mean  $\pm$ SEM of 3 animals, done in duplicate for each condition. P values represent comparison between insulin secretion in response to high glucose stimuli, after different treatments.

#### **5.** Discussion

The physiological experiments of Grill et al. [94] and Bliss et al. [95] showed a continuum in maturation of insulin secretion from birth to adult in response to glucose and to different secretagogues [94]. In both studies glucose-stimulated insulin secretion was minimal at P7 and even at 3 weeks age it was not as robust as in the adult islets. To address the mechanisms of this immature insulin secretion, we performed gene expression studies using beta cell-enriched samples and microarray technology. Our microarray results were confirmed for a number of genes by qPCR analysis on isolated rat islets. While changes in the proportion of beta cells in isolated islets could have affected the results, the proportion of beta cell/islet did not significantly differ among P2, P21 and adult islets and so could not explain the gene expression results (Table 5).

Comparison of the transcriptosomes of neonatal and adult beta cells showed a number of differentially expressed genes, particularly those critical to the specialized beta cell metabolism. Pyruvate enters the Krebs cycle via decarboxylation by the pyruvate dehydrogenase complex or via carboxylation and conversion to oxaloacetate by pyruvate carboxylase (Figure 8). In adult rat islets approximately 50% of the glucose-derived carbon enters the Krebs cycle via carboxylation, which is correlated with glucose metabolism and insulin release [83]. Adult beta cells show strong pyruvate carboxylase activity [83] that facilitates anaplerotic flux into the Krebs cycle that leads to the generation of other putative stimulus-secretion coupling factors, such as NADPH [82, 83] or malonyl-CoA [124]. Knocking-down pyruvate carboxylase resulted in impaired glucose-stimulated insulin secretion in INS-1 cells [125, 126] but not in isolated rat islets, in which compensatory increased enzyme activity was detected [127]. Another unique feature of the adult beta cell is the presence of mitochondrial membrane shuttles, including the glycerol phosphate, malate-aspartate, pyruvatecitrate and pyruvate-malate shuttles, through which glycolysis-derived cytosolic NADH is reoxidized [82, 83, 128].

However, in neonatal beta cells pyruvate would be handled differently. Pyruvate carboxylase, the key anaplerotic enzyme gene, was expressed significantly lower through the third postnatal week. Both lactate dehydrogenase A (LdhA) and monocarboxylic transporter 1 (Slc16a1) were elevated in the neonatal microarray data but missed significance. However, by qPCR, both were significantly elevated at P2 (seven- and fourfold; p=0.040 and 0.056, respectively) and P7 (17- and 7-fold, respectively; both p=0.001), and by P15 LdhA was still higher than adult (9.5- fold; p=0.004) but not Slc16a1 [129]. Their expression would divert pyruvate away from the mitochondria towards lactate production.

Both the glycerol phosphate and malate–aspartate shuttles had been reported to have lower expression in fetal rat islets compared with adult, with induced overexpression of Gpd2 in fetal islets improving glucose-stimulated insulin secretion [97]. Here, we show that not only the genes encoding the enzymes of the two main NADH shuttle systems (the mitochondrial Gpd2 of the glycerol phosphate shuttle, and the cytosolic Got1 and Mdh1 of the malate–aspartate shuttle) had differentially lower expression in neonatal beta cells, but by qPCR so did cytosolic malic enzyme, a key enzyme in the pyruvate–malate shuttle; mRNA for all four enzymes had less than 40% expression of adults through P21 and had not reached adult levels by P28. While previous studies have shown that the impairment of any of these enzymes could lead to diminished glucose-stimulated insulin secretion *in vitro* [119, 126] or *in vivo* [97, 130], we found all three shuttles and pyruvate carboxylase had very low gene expression during the neonatal period. Overall, the metabolic specialization found in adult beta cells for amplifying the ATP-derived from glycolysis is missing in neonatal beta cells.

A limitation of our study is that while we mainly investigated gene expression levels of enzymes, the activity of enzymes can be regulated at many levels. The assumption that low mRNA levels correlate with low enzymatic activity is reasonable, and our immunostaining data on PK and GPD2 proteins provide additional assurance. Both Pk and Gpd2 had low mRNA expression in P2 islets and were equally low even at 1 week after birth. However, increased protein production of both of these two enzymes at 1 week is consistent with physiological results showing a slight glucose-responsive insulin secretion in P7 islets [94].

Interestingly, Cpt1 and Cpt2, encoding carnitine palmitoyl transferases 1 and 2, which are involved in the transport of long-chain acyl-CoA molecules from the cytosol

through the mitochondrial membrane, were differentially expressed. In neonates Cpt1 was highly expressed while Cpt2 has lower expression by array data. By qPCR, Cpt1 mRNA in P2 neonatal islets did not differ from adult; however, Cpt2 was indeed expressed at low levels (20%). A natural inhibitor of Cpt1 is the glucose-derived malonyl-CoA, thus fatty acid oxidation is suppressed when glucose is in abundance and oxidized in the cell. Consequently, fatty acids diverted from oxidative pathway flux into various esterified products, such as diacylglycerol and phospholipids, which have been suggested as triggering factors in glucose-stimulated insulin secretion [131]. In neonatal beta cells, a possible consequence of high Cpt1 expression could be high enzymatic activity that was not fully inhibited by malonyl-CoA, suggesting that lipids may be diverted to beta-oxidation and are potentially a more important fuel in fetal/neonatal beta cells than in adults. Interestingly, over-expression of Cpt1 has been demonstrated to diminish GSIS in vitro [132]. Considering the immaturity of other mitochondrial shuttles and the scarcity of pyruvate-cycling based coupling factors, abundant lipids in fetal and neonatal beta cells might act as important coupling factors regulating insulin secretion.

Dietary factors markedly differ during the neonatal period and adults [133], so the lack of glucose-responsive insulin secretion is not really an impairment but an evolutionary adaptation to neonatal fuel. In neonates fatty acid and glycerol levels are higher and only after weaning decrease to the adult fed values [134]. In addition, there is the switch from solute carrier family 27 (fatty acid transporter), member 5 (Slc27a5) to member 1 (Slc27a1) fatty acid transporters. Slc27a1 is a major insulin-sensitive long-chain fatty acid transporter, whereas Slc27a5 expression is exquisitely liver-specific in adulthood and its over-expression in other mammalian cells mediates long-chain fatty acid transporter Slc27a1, they use the transiently produced Slc27a5 transporter for lipid uptake. Blood glucose levels rise after birth and by P7 are similar to the adult fed state [134]. While these physiological variables may drive the expression of some of the beta cell-specific metabolic enzymes, the different patterns of gene expression that we found suggest complex and varied regulatory networks. The coincidence of generalized low expression of many key beta cell genes in neonatal islets and the lack of glucose

responsiveness suggests the existence of a critical regulator of functional maturity. Not all key beta cell transcription factors were represented on the microarrays used so determination of such a maturation factor by microarray was not possible. In subsequent experiments [105], we explored the role of MafA and Pdx1 in neonatal beta cell maturation.

We tested two of the three (Pdx1, MafA, NeuroD1) suggested transcription factors essential for beta cell specificity and insulin gene expression [69]. We demonstrated a close relationship between the expression patterns of MafA and some of its putative targets, including insulin, during this neonatal period (Figure 12). As MafA expression from P2 through P7 was less than 10% of adult, reconstitution of MafA at P2 provides means to unequivocally evaluate effects of MafA on beta cell functional development. In such reconstitution experiments, overexpressing MafA in neonatal cells led to their acquisition of an insulin-secretory profile similar to adult beta cells, with a greater insulin secretion in response to high glucose concentrations. Thus, increased MafA expression may represent a mechanism responsible for enhancing the beta cell functional maturity.

By contrast, Pdx1 reached adult levels by P7 and had a postnatal expression pattern that differed from the tested beta cell genes including insulin, Glut2 and Gck. Importantly, Pdx1 reconstitution in P2 beta cells failed to increase glucose responsiveness within the experimental timeframe. However, Pdx1 overexpression upregulated MafA mRNA expression, increased insulin content and increased insulin secretion in both low and high glucose concentrations.

The expression patterns of MafA and Pdx1 during the neonatal period were distinct even though both have been implicated in regulating expression of the other [100, 136]. The parallel expression of insulin and MafA, the up-regulation of MafA expression by Ad-Pdx1, and previous observations that PDX1high is expressed before MAFA in insulin+ cells during development [65] are consistent with Pdx1 being an upstream regulator of MafA. Even though the induction of glucose responsiveness was not achieved by Pdx1 over-expression within the timeframe of our experiments, we expect that with longer incubation Pdx1-infected P2 cells would acquire glucose responsiveness.

A previous report [100] had suggested Gck, Pcsk1 and Glp1r as putative MafA targets. As MafA knockout mice did not show any embryonic phenotype, it was not surprising that a recently published paper [137] failed to detect these genes as being directly under the control of either MafA or MafB in E18.5 MafB null mice. However, our data of parallel expression of Glp1r, insulin, Glut2 and Pcsk1 with MafA support their being MafA targets postnatally. Gck expression was up-regulated by both Pdx1 and MafA over-expression, yet the time course of its expression differed significantly from both. In addition to MafA and Pdx1, physiological stimuli, such as thyroid hormones [138], may regulate Gck expression.

A previous report showing developing insulin+ cells switching from MafB+MafA–Ins+ to MafB-MafA+Ins+ cells [65], suggested that MafA may be important for the postnatal functional maturation of beta cells. Our current results strongly indicate such a role. While global MafA knockout mice showed embryonic MafA expression was not essential for islet architecture at birth, that study did not address its function in maturation of beta cells [68]. A modest increase in fasting glucose at 4 weeks was the earliest defect reported in the MafA knockout mice, and this was followed by impaired glucose-stimulated insulin secretion at 8 weeks. There was no analysis of whether this impairment was due to a lack of maturation, an intrinsic defect or glucotoxicity. Neonatal rodent beta cells are analogous to a loss-of-function model owing to their very low MafA expression at birth, and we suggest that the acquisition with mature beta cell function after reconstitution of MafA expression to levels comparable with adult beta cells essentially represents a functional rescue. Demonstration of physiological signals regulating MafA expression during the neonatal period will underscore its importance as an essential transcription factor for functional maturation of beta cells.

Maternal hyperglycemia leads to precocious maturation and hyperplasia of fetal beta cells [93, 139], and chronic *in vitro* exposure of fetal beta cells to elevated glucose levels induced maturation of glucose-stimulated insulin secretion [93]. Both MafA and

Pdx1 are glucose-responsive transcription factors and so could have enhanced expression. However, increased expression of MafA, but not Pdx1, converted immature neonatal beta cells into glucose-responsive cells within the timeframe studied, supporting the more direct role of MafA in the maturation process.

In the second part of our experiments, we have focused our attention on adult, mature beta cells, and investigated the role of transcription factor MafA in mature beta cell phenotype. We have demonstrated that in adult rat islets, DN-MafA suppresses the function of endogenous MafA at the same time as down-regulating its expression and that of important beta cell genes, including insulin, GLP1R, metabolic enzymes and transcription factors.

Normally, MafA forms homodimers to initiate target gene expression, i.e. insulin, by binding to "mare" (MafA responsive element) promoter region. MafA protein consists of two domains: the N-terminal transcriptional activation domain and the C-terminal DNA-binding and dimerization domain [77]. In case of the DN-MafA construct, the Nterminal domain is missing, however the C-terminal domain is preserved, therefore it can bind to the endogenous full MafA protein, and can very efficiently block its transcriptional activation [65]. DN-MafA has been shown to inactivate MafA transcriptional function in insulin promoter luciferase assays [65]. Furthermore, DN-MafA blunts glucose-stimulated insulin secretion from beta cell lines [100], but had not been extended to primary cells before our study. MafA is a key activator of insulin gene but has also been implicated to control genes of the insulin biosynthesis and secretion. The N-terminally deleted DN-MafA was shown to reduce the transcript levels of Glp1r, Pdx1, Nkx6.1 and Pcsk in the INS1 cell line [100]. We have confirmed these putative MafA target genes in primary rat beta cell cultures, and we went further to demonstrate a systematic down-regulation of metabolic genes implicated in insulin secretion, upon infection with DN-MafA. Our results suggest that MafA either directly or indirectly regulates many important genes in beta cells to ensure glucose-responsive insulin secretion.

Among the genes down-regulated with the loss of MafA function in adult beta cells

were key transcription factors Pdx1 and NeuroD1 (Figure 19). MafA and Pdx1 were shown to regulate the expression of the other [100, 136], but to the best of our knowledge, this is the first report to show that MafA can also regulate NeuroD1. Further research is warranted in order to describe the intricate positive- and negative feedback mechanisms between these critical beta cell transcription factors.

The inhibition of MafA expression and function resulted in impaired glucosestimulated insulin secretion, which could not be rescued by over-expression of other key transcription factors, such as Pdx1 and NeuroD1. However, islets lacking functional MafA had normal insulin content and were still secreting insulin in response to depolarizing agents. Considering the decreased expression of key beta-cell metabolic genes, we suggest that the stimulus-secretion coupling mechanism becomes dysfunctional with the inhibition of MafA function.

A strength of our study is a novel dissociation-reaggregation protocol developed for adenovirus infection of islet cells. The consistent and very high efficiency of infection of primary beta cells using this protocol is clearly advantageous to previous non-dissociation adenoviral techniques. In addition, the method prevents beta cell loss due to central necrosis of intact islets in culture. In previous studies our estimates of infection were only 50-60% of the total islet with much of the core of islets not infected [140], and infections occurring only in the mantle region.

With the inhibition of MafA function in adult beta cells, we managed to create a dysfunctional beta cell model, similar to neonatal beta cells. Neonatal beta cells and our model of DN-MafA induced dysfunctional beta cell have many features in common: (1) decreased expression of functionally important genes; (2) disrupted stimulus-secreting coupling; (3) impaired glucose responsiveness. Furthermore, based on our results, dysfunctional or immature beta cells lack MafA function. We established that overexpression of MafA in neonatal islets contributes to the acquisition of glucose responsiveness in neonatal beta cells. MafA also induced the expression of metabolic genes implicated in insulin secretion, including Gck and Glp1r.

Conversely, inhibition of MafA function in adult rat islet resulted in the loss of glucose

responsiveness, and diminished the expression of a set of metabolic genes, including the previously identified two MafA targets: Gck and Glp1r.

It is noteworthy, that the loss of MafA mRNA and protein expression occurs in dysfunctional beta cells from rats 4 weeks after 90% partial pancreatectomy and from 12-week-old hyperglycemic db/db mice [106]. In addition, a globally decreased expression of beta cell important genes has been reported in the partial pancreatectomy model of hyperglycemic rats [141, 142]. Based on these observations, we hypothesize that decreased levels of transcription factor MafA is the culprit.

In order to corroborate the critical role of MafA in normal beta cell function, we sought to perform a rescue experiment with adenovirus mediated MafA over-expression, in a diabetic condition where endogenous MafA level is lower and GSIS is impaired. The over-expression of MafA in DN-MafA infected cells was not feasible due to the mechanism of action of the MafA mutant. Therefore, we have identified the GK rat model as a valuable tool to study MafA over-expression in dysfunctional beta cells. The GK rat beta cell is considered to be a "prototype" for the diseased human beta cell [122] with poor insulin secretory response. To date, the expression profile of beta cell important transcription factors has not been characterized in the GK islets. Importantly, unlike most other models, the GK islets preserve their dysfunctional phenotype even in culture [123] rendering them suitable for an *in vitro* experiment.

When MafA over-expression was titrated to obtain near physiological MafA levels in GK islets, insulin secretion as fold change improved compared to control and Ad-GFP-infected GK islets (Figure 26). The amelioration of insulin secretion was mostly attributable to decreased basal insulin release from the GK islets. Of note, immature beta cell also release high amount of insulin in non-stimulatory conditions, and regulated insulin secretion was only achieved by MafA over-expression (Figure 14). Thus, we concluded that MafA is a critical regulator of mature beta cell function.

Although much emphasis has been put on elucidating the transcription factors involved in the embryonic differentiation (reviewed by Jensen [143]), and dysfunctional transformation of beta cells, the identification of factors that drive functional maturation is also essential to harvest the true potential of human embryonic stem cells. Currently, *in vitro* differentiated insulin-positive cells lack glucose-stimulated insulin secretion and still express MafB [15, 104]. These human embryonic stem cell-derived insulin+ cells were shown to become glucose responsive and start to express MafA only several months after transplantation [16]. Thus, identification of the neonatal physiological stimuli that regulate MafA and Pdx1 expression will be important for developing *in vitro* strategies to convert stem-cell derived insulin-expressing cells into mature, fully functional beta cells for cell-based therapies for diabetes.

Furthermore, MafA as a potent activator of insulin and other beta cell important genes, and a critical regulator of beta cell function serves as a novel therapeutic target for diabetes.

In conclusion, we have characterized a spectrum of beta cell phenotypes with varying function, from the newly differentiated, immature cell, through the mature, glucose-responsive state, to the dysfunctional beta cell. We propose that transcription factor MafA is a master regulator in the molecular mechanisms underlying the beta cell spectrum of function (Figure 27).



Figure 27. Paradigm of the beta cell, with MafA as a critical regulator of beta cell phenotype.

## 6. Conclusions

1. The lack of glucose responsiveness in neonatal islets is likely to be due to a generalized immaturity of the metabolic specialization of pancreatic beta cells.

2. In the process of functional maturation, to acquire glucose-responsive insulin secretion, neonatal beta cells undergo a coordinated gene expression program in which MafA plays a crucial role.

**3.** MafA knock-down leads to an immature phenotype with decreased expression of functionally important beta cell genes and selectively impaired glucosestimulated insulin secretion in mature beta cells of primary rat islets. MafA plays a critical role in adequate beta cell function.

4. MafA over-expression in dysfunctional beta cells of GK rat improved insulin secretion by decreasing basal insulin release.

### 7. Summary

Beta cells are highly differentiated cells that maintain blood glucose levels in the physiologically relevant range by rapid and precise changes in insulin secretion. Specialised metabolic pathways ensure the coupling of external nutrient stimuli to insulin secretion in adult beta cells. Although the metabolism of adult beta cells has been characterised extensively, that of neonatal beta cells is less well understood. Neonatal beta cells lack glucose responsiveness despite adequate insulin reserves.

We postulated that the mechanisms responsible for this immaturity are complex, and performed a microarray analysis to compare gene expressional profiles of neonatal and adult beta cells. Key metabolic enzymes characteristic of beta cell phenotype were among the genes with differentially low expression in neonatal beta cells, and these findings were confirmed by quantitative real-time PCR and immunohistochemistry. Thus, the generalised low expression of key metabolic genes may account for the poor glucose-responsiveness of neonatal beta cells. In subsequent experiments, the role of MafA transcription factor was explored in neonatal beta cell maturation. MafA is a glucose-responsive transcription factor selectively expressed in adult beta-cells, and previously it has been implicated in both beta cell maturation and regulation of insulin synthesis and secretion. By enchancing the expression levels of MafA in primary rat neonatal beta cells, we have established that MafA contributes to the acquisition of glucose responsiveness during beta cell maturation.

Next, to characterize the importance of MafA in regulating beta cell function in adult rat islets, we knocked-down MafA function by adenoviral-mediated expression of dominant negative form of MafA. The lack of MafA in primary adult rat islet cells resulted in decreased expression of functionally important beta cell genes and selectively impaired glucose-stimulated insulin secretion. We concluded that MafA is necessary for the mature beta cell phenotype.

Finally, to test the role of this transcription factor in dysfunctional beta cells, we studied isolated islets from Goto-Kakizaki (GK) rats with impaired glucose tolerance.
In GK islets, insulin and MafA mRNA were decreased and when MafA over expression was titrated to obtain near physiological MafA levels, the insulin secretion was improved. Thus, glucose-responsiveness of the mature beta cells is dependent on adequate MafA function.

Based on our results, MafA may serve as a potential candidate for drug development for treating patients with type 2 diabetes.

# 8. Összefoglalás

A béta-sejtek a vércukor háztartás szabályozásáért felelős, jól differenciált sejtek, melyek glukóz stimulusra inzulin szekréciós válasszal reagálnak, és fiziológiás körülmények között a vércukorszintet normális tartományban tartják. A glukóz-stimulált inzulin szekréció finom szabályozását a béta-sejtben számos metabolikus út más sejtektől eltérő expressziója biztosítja. A béta-sejtek metabolikus folyamatai érett, egészséges sejtekben jól karakterizáltak, azonban az éretlen, glukózra nem reagáló, neonatális béta-sejtek metabolizmusa kevéssé ismert. Hasonló módon hiányosak ismereteink a diabeteses béta-sejtek metabolizmusának szabályozásáról. Látszólag az éretlen, neonatális béta-sejtek, valamint a diabeteses béta-sejtek nagyon eltérőek, azonban fenotípusuk megegyező: glukóz stimulusra nem reagálnak megfelelő inzulin szekrécióval. Kutatómunkám során a béta-sejt fenotípusának (éretlen – érett – diabeteses) változásaival foglalkoztam.

Kutatásaim első fázisában az éretlen, neonatális béta-sejtek génexpressziós mintázatát tanulmányoztam. Eredményeim szerint a glukóz stimulusra adott elégtelen inzulinszekréciós válasz hátterében egy komplex génexpressziós mintázat áll. A patkány béta-sejtek érését követve az élet első 4 hetében a vizsgált fehérjék expressziós szintje fokozatosan emelkedik, a glukóz-stimulált inzulin szekréció megjelenésével párhuzamban. A génexpressziós mintázat összehangolt változása egy regulátor fehérje működését feltételezi, és az ismert béta-sejt specifikus, inzulin gént szabályozó transzkripciós faktorok közül a MafA (musculoaponeurotic fibrosarcoma oncogene homolog A) fehérje expressziós mintázata hasonlított legjobban a vizsgált metabolikus enzimekére. Kísérleteim második szakaszának eredményei szerint, az exogén módon, adenovírus infekció segítségével bejuttatott MafA kifejeződése a neonatális bétasejtekben fontos metabolikus enzimek indukciójához, és a glukóz-stimulált inzulin szekréció fokozódásához vezet. Kísérleteim harmadik szakaszában a MafA regulációs szerepének megismerését tűztem ki célul, és érett béta-sejtekben a MafA funkciót szelektíven kikapcsoltam egy "domináns negatív" konstrukcióval (DNMafA). Az alacsony MafA szint számos metabolikus enzim, béta-sejt specifikus gén és egyéb transzkripciós faktor expressziójának csökkenését eredményezte, valamint funkcionális

vizsgálatok szerint csökkent a glukóz-stimulált inzulin szekréciós válasz is. Eredményeim szerint a béta-sejtek a MafA kikapcsolásával egy éretlenebb állapotba jutnak, mintegy dedifferenciálódnak, és a neonatális, értelen sejtekhez hasonló fenotípust vesznek fel. Kísérleteim negyedik részében arra kerestem választ, hogy diabeteses patkányokból izolált, alulműködő béta-sejtekben a MafA expresszió növelésével javítható-e a glukóz-stimulált inzulin szekréció. Az adenovírus infekció segítségével bejuttatott MafA az inzulinszekréciós választ várakozásainknak megfelelően javította.

Eredményeimet összefoglalva megállapítható, hogy az alacsony MafA szint számos fontos béta-sejt gén expressziójának csökkenésével és a glukóz-stimulált inzulinszekréció gátlásával jár. Ez az állapot jellemzi a neonatális, éretlen, valamint a diabeteses, dedifferenciálódott béta-sejteket. A MafA funkció helyreállításával az inzulin szekréciós válasz javul, vagyis a MafA jelenléte elengedhetetlen az érett béta-sejtek működéséhez, a fiziológiás glukóz-stimulált inzulin szekrécióhoz. A MafA transzkripciós faktor potenciálisan gyógyszerfejlesztések célpontja lehet, ugyanis egy MafA expressziót vagy fehérje stabilitást fokozó hatóanyag a 2-es típusú diabetesben szenvedő betegekben a béta-sejt dedifferenciációt megelőzheti, és javíthatja az inzulinszekréciós kapacitást.

# 9. References

Ogden CL, Carroll MD, Curtin LR, McDowell MA, Tabak CJ, Flegal KM
 (2006) Prevalence of overweight and obesity in the United States, 1999-2004. JAMA
 295: 1549-1555

[2] Lee JM, Pilli S, Gebremariam A, Keirns CC, Davis MM, Vijan S, Freed GL, Herman WH, Gurney JG (2010) Getting heavier, younger: trajectories of obesity over the life course. Int J Obes (Lond) 34: 614-623

[3] Narayan KM, Boyle JP, Thompson TJ, Sorensen SW, Williamson DF (2003)Lifetime risk for diabetes mellitus in the United States. JAMA 290: 1884-1890

[4] Olshansky SJ, Passaro DJ, Hershow RC, Layden J, Carnes BA, Brody J, Hayflick L, Butler RN, Allison DB, Ludwig DS (2005) A potential decline in life expectancy in the United States in the 21st century. N Engl J Med 352: 1138-1145

[5] Brownlee M (2001) Biochemistry and molecular cell biology of diabetic complications. Nature 414: 813-820

[6] Holman RR, Paul SK, Bethel MA, Matthews DR, Neil HA (2008) 10-year follow-up of intensive glucose control in type 2 diabetes. N Engl J Med 359: 1577-1589

[7] Gerstein HC, Miller ME, Byington RP, Goff DC, Jr., Bigger JT, Buse JB, Cushman WC, Genuth S, Ismail-Beigi F, Grimm RH, Jr., Probstfield JL, Simons-Morton DG, Friedewald WT (2008) Effects of intensive glucose lowering in type 2 diabetes. N Engl J Med 358: 2545-2559

[8] Del Prato S (2009) Megatrials in type 2 diabetes. From excitement to frustration? Diabetologia 52: 1219-1226

[9] Gruessner AC, Sutherland DE (2008) Pancreas transplant outcomes for United States (US) cases as reported to the United Network for Organ Sharing (UNOS) and the International Pancreas Transplant Registry (IPTR). Clin Transpl: 45-56

[10] Ryan EA, Bigam D, Shapiro AM (2006) Current indications for pancreas or islet transplant. Diabetes Obes Metab 8: 1-7

[11] Ludwig B, Ludwig S, Steffen A, Saeger HD, Bornstein SR (2010) Islet versus pancreas transplantation in type 1 diabetes: competitive or complementary? Curr Diab Rep 10: 506-511

[12] Shapiro AM, Lakey JR, Ryan EA, Korbutt GS, Toth E, Warnock GL, Kneteman NM, Rajotte RV (2000) Islet transplantation in seven patients with type 1 diabetes mellitus using a glucocorticoid-free immunosuppressive regimen. N Engl J Med 343: 230-238

[13] Ryan EA, Paty BW, Senior PA, Bigam D, Alfadhli E, Kneteman NM, Lakey JR, Shapiro AM (2005) Five-year follow-up after clinical islet transplantation. Diabetes 54: 2060-2069

[14] Halban PA, Kahn SE, Lernmark A, Rhodes CJ (2001) Gene and cellreplacement therapy in the treatment of type 1 diabetes: how high must the standards be set? Diabetes 50: 2181-2191

[15] D'Amour KA, Bang AG, Eliazer S, Kelly OG, Agulnick AD, Smart NG, Moorman MA, Kroon E, Carpenter MK, Baetge EE (2006) Production of pancreatic hormone-expressing endocrine cells from human embryonic stem cells. Nat Biotechnol 24: 1392-1401

[16] Kroon E, Martinson LA, Kadoya K, Bang AG, Kelly OG, Eliazer S, Young H, Richardson M, Smart NG, Cunningham J, Agulnick AD, D'Amour KA, Carpenter MK, Baetge EE (2008) Pancreatic endoderm derived from human embryonic stem cells generates glucose-responsive insulin-secreting cells in vivo. Nat Biotechnol 26: 443-452

[17] Haase A, Olmer R, Schwanke K, Wunderlich S, Merkert S, Hess C, Zweigerdt R, Gruh I, Meyer J, Wagner S, Maier LS, Han DW, Glage S, Miller K, Fischer P, Scholer HR, Martin U (2009) Generation of induced pluripotent stem cells from human cord blood. Cell Stem Cell 5: 434-441

[18] Tateishi K, He J, Taranova O, Liang G, D'Alessio AC, Zhang Y (2008) Generation of insulin-secreting islet-like clusters from human skin fibroblasts. J Biol Chem 283: 31601-31607

[19] Lee RH, Seo MJ, Reger RL, Spees JL, Pulin AA, Olson SD, Prockop DJ (2006) Multipotent stromal cells from human marrow home to and promote repair of pancreatic islets and renal glomeruli in diabetic NOD/scid mice. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 103: 17438-17443

[20] Bonner-Weir S, Weir GC (2005) New sources of pancreatic beta-cells. Nat Biotechnol 23: 857-861 [21] Inada A, Nienaber C, Katsuta H, Fujitani Y, Levine J, Morita R, Sharma A, Bonner-Weir S (2008) Carbonic anhydrase II-positive pancreatic cells are progenitors for both endocrine and exocrine pancreas after birth. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 105: 19915-19919

[22] Zhou Q, Brown J, Kanarek A, Rajagopal J, Melton DA (2008) In vivo reprogramming of adult pancreatic exocrine cells to beta-cells. Nature 455: 627-632

[23] Nagaya M, Katsuta H, Kaneto H, Bonner-Weir S, Weir GC (2009) Adult mouse intrahepatic biliary epithelial cells induced in vitro to become insulin-producing cells. J Endocrinol 201: 37-47

[24] Zalzman M, Anker-Kitai L, Efrat S (2005) Differentiation of human liverderived, insulin-producing cells toward the beta-cell phenotype. Diabetes 54: 2568-2575

[25] Hori Y, Rulifson IC, Tsai BC, Heit JJ, Cahoy JD, Kim SK (2002) Growth inhibitors promote differentiation of insulin-producing tissue from embryonic stem cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 99: 16105-16110

[26] Lumelsky N, Blondel O, Laeng P, Velasco I, Ravin R, McKay R (2001) Differentiation of embryonic stem cells to insulin-secreting structures similar to pancreatic islets. Science 292: 1389-1394

[27] Soria B, Roche E, Berna G, Leon-Quinto T, Reig JA, Martin F (2000) Insulinsecreting cells derived from embryonic stem cells normalize glycemia in streptozotocin-induced diabetic mice. Diabetes 49: 157-162

[28] Hansson M, Tonning A, Frandsen U, Petri A, Rajagopal J, Englund MC, Heller RS, Hakansson J, Fleckner J, Skold HN, Melton D, Semb H, Serup P (2004) Artifactual insulin release from differentiated embryonic stem cells. Diabetes 53: 2603-2609

[29] Rajagopal J, Anderson WJ, Kume S, Martinez OI, Melton DA (2003) Insulin staining of ES cell progeny from insulin uptake. Science 299: 363

[30] Halban PA, German MS, Kahn SE, Weir GC (2010) Current status of islet cell replacement and regeneration therapy. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 95: 1034-1043

[31] Kim SK, MacDonald RJ (2002) Signaling and transcriptional control of pancreatic organogenesis. Curr Opin Genet Dev 12: 540-547

[32] Wilson ME, Scheel D, German MS (2003) Gene expression cascades in pancreatic development. Mech Dev 120: 65-80

[33] Finegood DT, Scaglia L, Bonner-Weir S (1995) Dynamics of beta-cell mass in the growing rat pancreas. Estimation with a simple mathematical model. Diabetes 44: 249-256

[34] Meier JJ, Butler AE, Saisho Y, Monchamp T, Galasso R, Bhushan A, Rizza RA, Butler PC (2008) Beta-cell replication is the primary mechanism subserving the postnatal expansion of beta-cell mass in humans. Diabetes 57: 1584-1594

[35] Butler AE, Janson J, Bonner-Weir S, Ritzel R, Rizza RA, Butler PC (2003) Beta-cell deficit and increased beta-cell apoptosis in humans with type 2 diabetes. Diabetes 52: 102-110

[36] German M (2010) Development of the endocrine pancreas. In: Jameson JL, De Groot LJ (eds) Endocrinology Adult and Pediatric. Saunders Elsevier, pp 592-602

[37] Stoffers DA, Thomas MK, Habener JF (1997) Homeodomain protein IDX-1: a master regulator of pancreas development and insulin gene expression. Trends Endocrinol Metab 8: 145-151

[38] Waeber G, Thompson N, Nicod P, Bonny C (1996) Transcriptional activation of the GLUT2 gene by the IPF-1/STF-1/IDX-1 homeobox factor. Mol Endocrinol 10: 1327-1334

[39] Watada H, Kajimoto Y, Umayahara Y, Matsuoka T, Kaneto H, Fujitani Y, Kamada T, Kawamori R, Yamasaki Y (1996) The human glucokinase gene beta-cell-type promoter: an essential role of insulin promoter factor 1/PDX-1 in its activation in HIT-T15 cells. Diabetes 45: 1478-1488

[40] Melloul D, Ben-Neriah Y, Cerasi E (1993) Glucose modulates the binding of an islet-specific factor to a conserved sequence within the rat I and the human insulin promoters. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 90: 3865-3869

[41] Petersen HV, Peshavaria M, Pedersen AA, Philippe J, Stein R, Madsen OD, Serup P (1998) Glucose stimulates the activation domain potential of the PDX-1 homeodomain transcription factor. FEBS Lett 431: 362-366

[42] Macfarlane WM, Smith SB, James RF, Clifton AD, Doza YN, Cohen P, Docherty K (1997) The p38/reactivating kinase mitogen-activated protein kinase cascade mediates the activation of the transcription factor insulin upstream factor 1 and insulin gene transcription by high glucose in pancreatic beta-cells. J Biol Chem 272: 20936-20944

[43] Rafiq I, Kennedy HJ, Rutter GA (1998) Glucose-dependent translocation of insulin promoter factor-1 (IPF-1) between the nuclear periphery and the nucleoplasm of single MIN6 beta-cells. J Biol Chem 273: 23241-23247

[44] Guz Y, Montminy MR, Stein R, Leonard J, Gamer LW, Wright CV, Teitelman G (1995) Expression of murine STF-1, a putative insulin gene transcription factor, in beta cells of pancreas, duodenal epithelium and pancreatic exocrine and endocrine progenitors during ontogeny. Development 121: 11-18

[45] Jonsson J, Carlsson L, Edlund T, Edlund H (1994) Insulin-promoter-factor 1 is required for pancreas development in mice. Nature 371: 606-609

[46] Stoffers DA, Zinkin NT, Stanojevic V, Clarke WL, Habener JF (1997) Pancreatic agenesis attributable to a single nucleotide deletion in the human IPF1 gene coding sequence. Nat Genet 15: 106-110

[47] Artavanis-Tsakonas S, Rand MD, Lake RJ (1999) Notch signaling: cell fate control and signal integration in development. Science 284: 770-776

[48] Apelqvist A, Li H, Sommer L, Beatus P, Anderson DJ, Honjo T, Hrabe de Angelis M, Lendahl U, Edlund H (1999) Notch signalling controls pancreatic cell differentiation. Nature 400: 877-881

[49] Gradwohl G, Dierich A, LeMeur M, Guillemot F (2000) neurogenin3 is required for the development of the four endocrine cell lineages of the pancreas. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 97: 1607-1611

[50] Rubio-Cabezas O, Jensen JN, Hodgson MI, Codner E, Ellard S, Serup P, Hattersley AT (2011) Permanent Neonatal Diabetes and Enteric Anendocrinosis Associated With Biallelic Mutations in NEUROG3. Diabetes 60: 1349-1353

[51] Naya FJ, Stellrecht CM, Tsai MJ (1995) Tissue-specific regulation of the insulin gene by a novel basic helix-loop-helix transcription factor. Genes Dev 9: 1009-1019

[52] Lee JE, Hollenberg SM, Snider L, Turner DL, Lipnick N, Weintraub H (1995) Conversion of Xenopus ectoderm into neurons by NeuroD, a basic helix-loop-helix protein. Science 268: 836-844

[53] Huang HP, Liu M, El-Hodiri HM, Chu K, Jamrich M, Tsai MJ (2000) Regulation of the pancreatic islet-specific gene BETA2 (neuroD) by neurogenin 3. Mol Cell Biol 20: 3292-3307 [54] Naya FJ, Huang HP, Qiu Y, Mutoh H, DeMayo FJ, Leiter AB, Tsai MJ (1997) Diabetes, defective pancreatic morphogenesis, and abnormal enteroendocrine differentiation in BETA2/neuroD-deficient mice. Genes Dev 11: 2323-2334

[55] Sosa-Pineda B, Chowdhury K, Torres M, Oliver G, Gruss P (1997) The Pax4 gene is essential for differentiation of insulin-producing beta cells in the mammalian pancreas. Nature 386: 399-402

[56] Turque N, Plaza S, Radvanyi F, Carriere C, Saule S (1994) Pax-QNR/Pax-6, a paired box- and homeobox-containing gene expressed in neurons, is also expressed in pancreatic endocrine cells. Mol Endocrinol 8: 929-938

[57] Sander M, Neubuser A, Kalamaras J, Ee HC, Martin GR, German MS (1997) Genetic analysis reveals that PAX6 is required for normal transcription of pancreatic hormone genes and islet development. Genes Dev 11: 1662-1673

[58] St-Onge L, Sosa-Pineda B, Chowdhury K, Mansouri A, Gruss P (1997) Pax6 is required for differentiation of glucagon-producing alpha-cells in mouse pancreas. Nature 387: 406-409

[59] Sussel L, Kalamaras J, Hartigan-O'Connor DJ, Meneses JJ, Pedersen RA, Rubenstein JL, German MS (1998) Mice lacking the homeodomain transcription factor Nkx2.2 have diabetes due to arrested differentiation of pancreatic beta cells. Development 125: 2213-2221

[60] Sander M, Sussel L, Conners J, Scheel D, Kalamaras J, Dela Cruz F, Schwitzgebel V, Hayes-Jordan A, German M (2000) Homeobox gene Nkx6.1 lies downstream of Nkx2.2 in the major pathway of beta-cell formation in the pancreas. Development 127: 5533-5540

[61] Prado CL, Pugh-Bernard AE, Elghazi L, Sosa-Pineda B, Sussel L (2004) Ghrelin cells replace insulin-producing beta cells in two mouse models of pancreas development. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 101: 2924-2929

[62] Zhao L, Guo M, Matsuoka TA, Hagman DK, Parazzoli SD, Poitout V, Stein R(2005) The islet beta cell-enriched MafA activator is a key regulator of insulin gene transcription. J Biol Chem 280: 11887-11894

[63] Artner I, Blanchi B, Raum JC, Guo M, Kaneko T, Cordes S, Sieweke M, SteinR (2007) MafB is required for islet beta cell maturation. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 104: 3853-3858

[64] Matsuoka TA, Artner I, Henderson E, Means A, Sander M, Stein R (2004) The MafA transcription factor appears to be responsible for tissue-specific expression of insulin. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 101: 2930-2933

[65] Nishimura W, Kondo T, Salameh T, El Khattabi I, Dodge R, Bonner-Weir S, Sharma A (2006) A switch from MafB to MafA expression accompanies differentiation to pancreatic beta-cells. Dev Biol 293: 526-539

[66] Hagman DK, Hays LB, Parazzoli SD, Poitout V (2005) Palmitate inhibits insulin gene expression by altering PDX-1 nuclear localization and reducing MafA expression in isolated rat islets of Langerhans. J Biol Chem 280: 32413-32418

[67] Ueki K, Okada T, Hu J, Liew CW, Assmann A, Dahlgren GM, Peters JL, Shackman JG, Zhang M, Artner I, Satin LS, Stein R, Holzenberger M, Kennedy RT, Kahn CR, Kulkarni RN (2006) Total insulin and IGF-I resistance in pancreatic beta cells causes overt diabetes. Nat Genet 38: 583-588

[68] Zhang C, Moriguchi T, Kajihara M, Esaki R, Harada A, Shimohata H, Oishi H, Hamada M, Morito N, Hasegawa K, Kudo T, Engel JD, Yamamoto M, Takahashi S (2005) MafA is a key regulator of glucose-stimulated insulin secretion. Mol Cell Biol 25: 4969-4976

[69] Docherty HM, Hay CW, Ferguson LA, Barrow J, Durward E, Docherty K (2005) Relative contribution of PDX-1, MafA and E47/beta2 to the regulation of the human insulin promoter. Biochem J 389: 813-820

[70] Ohlsson H, Thor S, Edlund T (1991) Novel insulin promoter- and enhancerbinding proteins that discriminate between pancreatic alpha- and beta-cells. Mol Endocrinol 5: 897-904

[71] Matsuoka TA, Zhao L, Artner I, Jarrett HW, Friedman D, Means A, Stein R (2003) Members of the large Maf transcription family regulate insulin gene transcription in islet beta cells. Mol Cell Biol 23: 6049-6062

[72] Matsuoka TA, Kaneto H, Stein R, Miyatsuka T, Kawamori D, Henderson E, Kojima I, Matsuhisa M, Hori M, Yamasaki Y (2007) MafA regulates expression of genes important to islet beta-cell function. Mol Endocrinol 21: 2764-2774

[73] Steiner DF, Chan SJ, Welsh JM, Kwok SC (1985) Structure and evolution of the insulin gene. Annu Rev Genet 19: 463-484

[74] Hay CW, Docherty K (2006) Comparative analysis of insulin gene promoters: implications for diabetes research. Diabetes 55: 3201-3213

[75] Elrick LJ, Docherty K (2001) Phosphorylation-dependent nucleocytoplasmic shuttling of pancreatic duodenal homeobox-1. Diabetes 50: 2244-2252

[76] Andrali SS, Qian Q, Ozcan S (2007) Glucose mediates the translocation of NeuroD1 by O-linked glycosylation. J Biol Chem 282: 15589-15596

[77] Olbrot M, Rud J, Moss LG, Sharma A (2002) Identification of beta-cell-specific insulin gene transcription factor RIPE3b1 as mammalian MafA. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 99: 6737-6742

[78] Nolan CJ, Prentki M (2008) The islet beta-cell: fuel responsive and vulnerable.Trends Endocrinol Metab 19: 285-291

[79] Schuit F, Flamez D, De Vos A, Pipeleers D (2002) Glucose-regulated gene expression maintaining the glucose-responsive state of beta-cells. Diabetes 51 Suppl 3: S326-332

[80] MacDonald MJ (1993) Estimates of glycolysis, pyruvate (de)carboxylation, pentose phosphate pathway, and methyl succinate metabolism in incapacitated pancreatic islets. Arch Biochem Biophys 305: 205-214

[81] Ishihara H, Wang H, Drewes LR, Wollheim CB (1999) Overexpression of monocarboxylate transporter and lactate dehydrogenase alters insulin secretory responses to pyruvate and lactate in beta cells. J Clin Invest 104: 1621-1629

[82] Farfari S, Schulz V, Corkey B, Prentki M (2000) Glucose-regulated anaplerosis and cataplerosis in pancreatic beta-cells: possible implication of a pyruvate/citrate shuttle in insulin secretion. Diabetes 49: 718-726

[83] MacDonald MJ (1995) Feasibility of a mitochondrial pyruvate malate shuttle in pancreatic islets. Further implication of cytosolic NADPH in insulin secretion. J Biol Chem 270: 20051-20058

[84] Henquin JC (2009) Regulation of insulin secretion: a matter of phase control and amplitude modulation. Diabetologia 52: 739-751

[85] Grasso S, Messina A, Saporito N, Reitano G (1968) Serum-insulin response to glucose and aminoacids in the premature infant. Lancet 2: 755-756

[86] Obenshain SS, Adam PA, King KC, Teramo K, Raivio KO, Raiha N, Schwartz R (1970) Human fetal insulin response to sustained maternal hyperglycemia. N Engl J Med 283: 566-570

[87] Asplund K, Westman S, Hellerstrom C (1969) Glucose stimulation of insulin secretion from the isolated pancreas of foetal and newborn rats. Diabetologia 5: 260-262

[88] Lavine RL, Chick WL, Like AA, Makdisi TW (1971) Glucose tolerance and insulin secretion in neonatal and adult mice. Diabetes 20: 134-139

[89] Hole RL, Pian-Smith MC, Sharp GW (1988) Development of the biphasic response to glucose in fetal and neonatal rat pancreas. Am J Physiol 254: E167-174

[90] Navarro-Tableros V, Fiordelisio T, Hernandez-Cruz A, Hiriart M (2007) Physiological development of insulin secretion, calcium channels, and GLUT2 expression of pancreatic rat beta-cells. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab 292: E1018-1029

[91] Asplund K (1973) Effects of glucose on insulin biosynthesis in foetal and newborn rats. Horm Metab Res 5: 410-415

[92] Freinkel N, Lewis NJ, Johnson R, Swenne I, Bone A, Hellerstrom C (1984) Differential effects of age versus glycemic stimulation on the maturation of insulin stimulus-secretion coupling during culture of fetal rat islets. Diabetes 33: 1028-1038

[93] Hellerstrom C, Swenne I (1991) Functional maturation and proliferation of fetal pancreatic beta-cells. Diabetes 40 Suppl 2: 89-93

[94] Grill V, Lake W, Freinkel N (1981) Generalized diminution in the response to nutrients as insulin-releasing agents during the early neonatal period in the rat. Diabetes 30: 56-63

[95] Bliss CR, Sharp GW (1992) Glucose-induced insulin release in islets of young rats: time-dependent potentiation and effects of 2-bromostearate. Am J Physiol 263: E890-896

[96] Rorsman P, Arkhammar P, Bokvist K, Hellerstrom C, Nilsson T, Welsh M, Welsh N, Berggren PO (1989) Failure of glucose to elicit a normal secretory response in fetal pancreatic beta cells results from glucose insensitivity of the ATP-regulated K+ channels. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 86: 4505-4509

[97] Tan C, Tuch BE, Tu J, Brown SA (2002) Role of NADH shuttles in glucoseinduced insulin secretion from fetal beta-cells. Diabetes 51: 2989-2996

[98] Jermendy A, Toschi E, Aye T, Koh A, Aguayo-Mazzucato C, Sharma A, Weir GC, Sgroi D, Bonner-Weir S (2011) Rat neonatal beta cells lack the specialised metabolic phenotype of mature beta cells. Diabetologia 54: 594-604

[99] Keller DM, McWeeney S, Arsenlis A, Drouin J, Wright CV, Wang H, Wollheim CB, White P, Kaestner KH, Goodman RH (2007) Characterization of pancreatic transcription factor Pdx-1 binding sites using promoter microarray and serial analysis of chromatin occupancy. J Biol Chem 282: 32084-32092

[100] Wang H, Brun T, Kataoka K, Sharma AJ, Wollheim CB (2007) MAFA controls genes implicated in insulin biosynthesis and secretion. Diabetologia 50: 348-358

[101] Offield MF, Jetton TL, Labosky PA, Ray M, Stein RW, Magnuson MA, Hogan BL, Wright CV (1996) PDX-1 is required for pancreatic outgrowth and differentiation of the rostral duodenum. Development 122: 983-995

[102] Sharma A, Stein R (1994) Glucose-induced transcription of the insulin gene is mediated by factors required for beta-cell-type-specific expression. Mol Cell Biol 14: 871-879

[103] Ahlgren U, Jonsson J, Jonsson L, Simu K, Edlund H (1998) beta-cell-specific inactivation of the mouse Ipf1/Pdx1 gene results in loss of the beta-cell phenotype and maturity onset diabetes. Genes Dev 12: 1763-1768

[104] Jiang J, Au M, Lu K, Eshpeter A, Korbutt G, Fisk G, Majumdar AS (2007) Generation of insulin-producing islet-like clusters from human embryonic stem cells. Stem Cells 25: 1940-1953

[105] Aguayo-Mazzucato C, Koh A, El Khattabi I, Li WC, Toschi E, Jermendy A, Juhl K, Mao K, Weir GC, Sharma A, Bonner-Weir S (2011) Mafa expression enhances glucose-responsive insulin secretion in neonatal rat beta cells. Diabetologia 54: 583-593

[106] Kondo T, El Khattabi I, Nishimura W, Laybutt DR, Geraldes P, Shah S, King G, Bonner-Weir S, Weir G, Sharma A (2009) p38 MAPK is a major regulator of MafA protein stability under oxidative stress. Mol Endocrinol 23: 1281-1290

[107] Gotoh M, Maki T, Satomi S, Porter J, Bonner-Weir S, O'Hara CJ, Monaco AP (1987) Reproducible high yield of rat islets by stationary in vitro digestion following pancreatic ductal or portal venous collagenase injection. Transplantation 43: 725-730

[108] Sgroi DC, Teng S, Robinson G, LeVangie R, Hudson JR, Jr., Elkahloun AG(1999) In vivo gene expression profile analysis of human breast cancer progression.Cancer Res 59: 5656-5661

[109] Emmert-Buck MR, Bonner RF, Smith PD, Chuaqui RF, Zhuang Z, Goldstein SR, Weiss RA, Liotta LA (1996) Laser capture microdissection. Science 274: 998-1001
[110] Ahn YB, Xu G, Marselli L, Toschi E, Sharma A, Bonner-Weir S, Sgroi DC, Weir GC (2007) Changes in gene expression in beta cells after islet isolation and transplantation using laser-capture microdissection. Diabetologia 50: 334-342

[111] Luo L, Salunga RC, Guo H, Bittner A, Joy KC, Galindo JE, Xiao H, Rogers KE, Wan JS, Jackson MR, Erlander MG (1999) Gene expression profiles of laser-captured adjacent neuronal subtypes. Nat Med 5: 117-122

[112] Huang da W, Sherman BT, Lempicki RA (2009) Systematic and integrative analysis of large gene lists using DAVID bioinformatics resources. Nat Protoc 4: 44-57
[113] Dennis G, Jr., Sherman BT, Hosack DA, Yang J, Gao W, Lane HC, Lempicki RA (2003) DAVID: Database for Annotation, Visualization, and Integrated Discovery. Genome Biol 4: P3

[114] Huggett J, Dheda K, Bustin S, Zumla A (2005) Real-time RT-PCR normalisation; strategies and considerations. Genes Immun 6: 279-284

[115] Scaglia L, Cahill CJ, Finegood DT, Bonner-Weir S (1997) Apoptosis participates in the remodeling of the endocrine pancreas in the neonatal rat. Endocrinology 138: 1736-1741

[116] Newgard CB, McGarry JD (1995) Metabolic coupling factors in pancreatic beta-cell signal transduction. Annu Rev Biochem 64: 689-719

[117] Quintens R, Hendrickx N, Lemaire K, Schuit F (2008) Why expression of some genes is disallowed in beta-cells. Biochem Soc Trans 36: 300-305

[118] Yaney GC, Schultz V, Cunningham BA, Dunaway GA, Corkey BE, Tornheim K (1995) Phosphofructokinase isozymes in pancreatic islets and clonal beta-cells (INS-1). Diabetes 44: 1285-1289

86

[119] Guay C, Madiraju SR, Aumais A, Joly E, Prentki M (2007) A role for ATPcitrate lyase, malic enzyme, and pyruvate/citrate cycling in glucose-induced insulin secretion. J Biol Chem 282: 35657-35665

[120] Lu D, Mulder H, Zhao P, Burgess SC, Jensen MV, Kamzolova S, Newgard CB, Sherry AD (2002) 13C NMR isotopomer analysis reveals a connection between pyruvate cycling and glucose-stimulated insulin secretion (GSIS). Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 99: 2708-2713

[121] Iype T, Francis J, Garmey JC, Schisler JC, Nesher R, Weir GC, Becker TC, Newgard CB, Griffen SC, Mirmira RG (2005) Mechanism of insulin gene regulation by the pancreatic transcription factor Pdx-1: application of pre-mRNA analysis and chromatin immunoprecipitation to assess formation of functional transcriptional complexes. J Biol Chem 280: 16798-16807

[122] Portha B, Lacraz G, Kergoat M, Homo-Delarche F, Giroix MH, Bailbe D, Gangnerau MN, Dolz M, Tourrel-Cuzin C, Movassat J (2009) The GK rat beta-cell: a prototype for the diseased human beta-cell in type 2 diabetes? Mol Cell Endocrinol 297: 73-85

[123] Ostenson CG, Chen J, Sheu L, Gaisano HY (2007) Effects of palmitate on insulin secretion and exocytotic proteins in islets of diabetic Goto-Kakizaki rats. Pancreas 34: 359-363

[124] Brun T, Roche E, Assimacopoulos-Jeannet F, Corkey BE, Kim KH, Prentki M (1996) Evidence for an anaplerotic/malonyl-CoA pathway in pancreatic beta-cell nutrient signaling. Diabetes 45: 190-198

[125] Antinozzi PA, Ishihara H, Newgard CB, Wollheim CB (2002) Mitochondrial metabolism sets the maximal limit of fuel-stimulated insulin secretion in a model pancreatic beta cell: a survey of four fuel secretagogues. J Biol Chem 277: 11746-11755

[126] Hasan NM, Longacre MJ, Stoker SW, Boonsaen T, Jitrapakdee S, Kendrick MA, Wallace JC, MacDonald MJ (2008) Impaired anaplerosis and insulin secretion in insulinoma cells caused by small interfering RNA-mediated suppression of pyruvate carboxylase. J Biol Chem 283: 28048-28059

[127] Jensen MV, Joseph JW, Ilkayeva O, Burgess S, Lu D, Ronnebaum SM, Odegaard M, Becker TC, Sherry AD, Newgard CB (2006) Compensatory responses to

pyruvate carboxylase suppression in islet beta-cells. Preservation of glucose-stimulated insulin secretion. J Biol Chem 281: 22342-22351

[128] Jitrapakdee S, Wutthisathapornchai A, Wallace JC, MacDonald MJ (2010)Regulation of insulin secretion: role of mitochondrial signalling. Diabetologia 53: 1019-1032

[129] Thorrez L, Laudadio I, Van Deun K, Quintens R, Hendrickx N, Granvik M, Lemaire K, Schraenen A, Van Lommel L, Lehnert S, Aguayo-Mazzucato C, Cheng-Xue R, Gilon P, Van Mechelen I, Bonner-Weir S, Lemaigre F, Schuit F (2011) Tissue-specific disallowance of housekeeping genes: the other face of cell differentiation. Genome Res 21: 95-105

[130] Eto K, Tsubamoto Y, Terauchi Y, Sugiyama T, Kishimoto T, Takahashi N, Yamauchi N, Kubota N, Murayama S, Aizawa T, Akanuma Y, Aizawa S, Kasai H, Yazaki Y, Kadowaki T (1999) Role of NADH shuttle system in glucose-induced activation of mitochondrial metabolism and insulin secretion. Science 283: 981-985

[131] Prentki M, Vischer S, Glennon MC, Regazzi R, Deeney JT, Corkey BE (1992) Malonyl-CoA and long chain acyl-CoA esters as metabolic coupling factors in nutrientinduced insulin secretion. J Biol Chem 267: 5802-5810

[132] Rubi B, Antinozzi PA, Herrero L, Ishihara H, Asins G, Serra D, Wollheim CB, Maechler P, Hegardt FG (2002) Adenovirus-mediated overexpression of liver carnitine palmitoyltransferase I in INS1E cells: effects on cell metabolism and insulin secretion. Biochem J 364: 219-226

[133] Page MA, Krebs HA, Williamson DH (1971) Activities of enzymes of ketonebody utilization in brain and other tissues of suckling rats. Biochem J 121: 49-53

[134] Henning SJ (1981) Postnatal development: coordination of feeding, digestion, and metabolism. Am J Physiol 241: G199-214

[135] Stahl A (2004) A current review of fatty acid transport proteins (SLC27).Pflugers Arch 447: 722-727

[136] Samaras SE, Zhao L, Means A, Henderson E, Matsuoka TA, Stein R (2003) The islet beta cell-enriched RIPE3b1/Maf transcription factor regulates pdx-1 expression. J Biol Chem 278: 12263-12270 [137] Artner I, Hang Y, Mazur M, Yamamoto T, Guo M, Lindner J, Magnuson MA, Stein R (2010) MafA and MafB regulate genes critical to beta-cells in a unique temporal manner. Diabetes 59: 2530-2539

[138] Partridge NC, Hoh CH, Weaver PK, Oliver IT (1975) Premature induction of glucokinase in the neonatal rat by thyroid hormone. Eur J Biochem 51: 49-54

[139] Aerts L, van Assche FA (1977) Rat foetal endocrine pancreas in experimental diabetes. J Endocrinol 73: 339-346

[140] Matsuoka TA, Kaneto H, Miyatsuka T, Yamamoto T, Yamamoto K, Kato K, Shimomura I, Stein R, Matsuhisa M (2010) Regulation of MafA expression in pancreatic beta-cells in db/db mice with diabetes. Diabetes 59: 1709-1720

[141] Laybutt DR, Sharma A, Sgroi DC, Gaudet J, Bonner-Weir S, Weir GC (2002)Genetic regulation of metabolic pathways in beta-cells disrupted by hyperglycemia. JBiol Chem 277: 10912-10921

[142] Jonas JC, Sharma A, Hasenkamp W, Ilkova H, Patane G, Laybutt R, Bonner-Weir S, Weir GC (1999) Chronic hyperglycemia triggers loss of pancreatic beta cell differentiation in an animal model of diabetes. J Biol Chem 274: 14112-14121

[143] Jensen J (2004) Gene regulatory factors in pancreatic development. Dev Dyn229: 176-200

# 10. Bibliography of the candidate's publications

### **10.1.** Publications related to the thesis:

**Jermendy** Á, Toschi E, Aye T, Koh A, Aguayo-Mazzucato C, Sharma A, Weir GC, Sgroi D, Bonner-Weir. Neonatal beta cells lack the specialized metabolic phenotype of mature beta cells. Diabetologia 2011; 54:594-604.

### IF: 6.814

Aguayo-Mazzucato C, Koh A, El Khattabi I, Li WC, Toschi E, **Jermendy Á**, Juhl K, Mao K, Weir GC, Sharma A, Bonner-Weir S. Mafa expression enhances glucose-responsive insulin secretion in neonatal rat beta cells. Diabetologia. 2011; 54:583-93. **IF: 6.814** 

#### **10.2.** Publications not related to the thesis:

Molvarec A, **Jermendy** Á, Kovács M, Prohászka Z, Rigó J Jr. Toll-like receptor 4 gene polymorphisms and preeclampsia: lack of association in a Caucasian population. Hypertens Res 2008; 31: 859-64.

#### **IF: 3.146**

Molvarec A, **Jermendy** Á, Nagy B, Kovács M, Várkonyi T, Hupuczi P, Prohászka Z, Rigó J Jr. Association between tumor necrosis factor (TNF)-alpha G-308A gene polymorphism and preeclampsia complicated by severe fetal growth restriction. Clin Chim Acta 2008; 392: 52-7.

#### IF: 2.960

**Jermendy** Á, Körner A, Kovács M, Kaszás E, Balázsovics J, Szőcs A, Madácsy L, Cseh K. A Toll-like rceptor polimorfizmusainak hatása a tumornekrózis faktor- $\alpha$  és szolúbilis receptorainak szintjére elhízott gyermekekben és serdülőkben. Diabetologia Hungarica 2009; 3: 241-248.

Lukács K, Szatmári I, **Jermendy Á,** Krikovszky D, Körner A, Pánczél P, Madacsy L, Hermann R: A PTPN22 gén C1858T és az inzulin génrégió -23HphI polimorfizmusának összefüggése az 1-es típusú diabetesszel magyar populációban. Gyermekgyógyászat 2009; 60: 42-47.

**Jermendy** Á, Szatmári I, Laine AP, Lukács K, Horváth KH, Körner A, Madácsy L, Veijola R, Simell O, Knip M, Ilonen J, Hermann R. The interferon-induced helicase IFIH1 Ala946Thr polymorphism is associated with type 1 diabetes in both the high-incidence Finnish and the medium-incidence Hungarian populations. Diabetologia 2010; 53: 98-102.

IF: 6.973

**Jermendy Á**, Körner, Kovács M, Kaszás E, Balázsovics J, Szőcs A, Madácsy L, Cseh K. Association between toll-like receptor polymorphisms and serum levels of tumor necrosis factor- $\alpha$  and its soluble receptors in obese children. Med Sci Monit 2010; 16: 180-185.

## IF: 1.699

**Jermendy Á**, Körner A, Kovács M, Madácsy L, Cseh K. PPAR-γ2 Pro12Ala polymorphism is associated with post-challenge abnormalities of glucose homeostasis in children and adolescents with obesity. J Pediatr Endocr Met 2011; 24: 55–59. **IF: 0.875** 

Jermendy Á, Körner A, Kovács M, Cseh K, Madácsy L: A PPAR-✓ Pro12Ala polimorfizmus összefüggése a glükóz-homeosztázissal elhízott gyermekek és serdülők körében. Gyermekgyógyászat 2012; 4: 147-151.

Cavelti-Weder C, Shtessel M, Reuss JE, **Jermendy** Á, Yamada T, Caballero F, Bonner-Weir S, Weir GC. Pancreatic duct ligation after almost complete  $\beta$ -cell loss:

exocrine regeneration but no evidence of  $\beta$ -cell regeneration. Endocrinology 2013; 154: 4493-4502.

IF: 4.717

### **11. Acknowledgements**

First and foremost I would like to express my gratitude to Professor Susan Bonner-Weir, my external PhD supervisor and mentor in the past 6 years. Professor Bonner-Weir's support and guidance was highly instrumental for me throughout my early career years. I am very grateful to her for introducing me to basic science and for allowing me to join her research group in the Joslin Diabetes Center, which enabled me to take home knowledge and expertise from a world renowned institution of diabetes research. I am indebted to her for her generous help with all aspects of my research work and for teaching me how to think of reseach questions enthusiastically and critically at the same time.

Furthermore, I would like to gratefully thank the support of Professor Tivadar Tulassay, the director of my PhD program, who encouraged me to start postgraduate studies at the 1st Department of Pediatrics, within the framework of the Doctoral School of Semmelweis University, and who was very supportive of my research work. I am also indebted to my PhD supervisor, Professor László Madácsy, who being remarkable clinician-scientist and outstanding mentor at the same time, kindly provided me with a supportive scientific background.

I am also grateful to Dr. Arun Sharma at the Joslin Diabetes Center for many valuable discussions, excellent advice on all aspects of experimental research and critical reading of my manuscripts and abstracts. I would like to thank my collegues and collaborators Dr. Amedeo Vetere, Dr. Ilham El Khattabi, Dr. Cristina Aguayo-Mazzucato, Dr. Yong Mong Bee and Dr. Elena Toschi for their devotion to the current project. I am also indebted to other research fellows of the Section on Islet Cell and Regenerative Biology of Joslin Diabetes Center, it was a pleasure to work in this international, stimulating environment. The professional assistance of Jennifer Hollister-Lock and Karolina Siniakowicz is also gratefully acknowledged.

I am also grateful to my colleagues and friends, especially Dr. Ildikó Szatmári and Dr. Robert Hermann, at 1st Department of Pediatrics, in Budapest who were very supportive of my research work and were always ready for discussions.

Finally, I am grateful to my parents and my brother for providing constant background

support throughout my PhD studies. Last but not least, I am deeply indebted to my husband, Dr. Pal Maurovich-Horvat, for providing constant support, encouragement and many cheerful moments during my research years.